# REDOX MODULATION PROTECTS FROM ANTIGEN-INDEPENDENT AND ANTIGEN-DEPENDENT INJURY IN ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

by

## Martha Milton Sklavos

B.A., Johns Hopkins University, 2001

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

The School of Medicine in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2009

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

## SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

This dissertation was presented

By

Martha Milton Sklavos

It was defended on

July 1<sup>st</sup>, 2009

and approved by

Jay Kolls, M.D. Professor of Genetics and Pediatrics, Louisiana State University School of Medicine Adjunct Professor of Immunology and Pediatrics, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine

> Adrian Morelli, M.D, Ph.D. Associate Professor of Immunology and Surgery

> > Angus W. Thomson, Ph.D., D.Sc. Professor of Immunology and Surgery

Massimo Trucco, M.D. Professor of Pediatrics, Epidemiology, Genetics, and Immunology

Jon D. Piganelli, Ph.D., Chair Associate Professor of Pediatrics, Immunology and Pathology Dissertation Advisor Copyright permission is granted for figures from:

- 1. Roncarolo, M.G., and Battaglia, M. 2007. Regulatory T-cell immunotherapy for tolerance to self antigens and alloantigens in humans. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 7: 585-598.
- 2. Naftanel, M. A., and D. M. Harlan. 2004. Pancreatic islet transplantation. *PLoS Med 1:e58; quiz e75*
- 3. Jenkins, M. K., A. Khoruts, E. Ingulli, D. L. Mueller, S. J. McSorley, R. L. Reinhardt, A. Itano, and K. A. Pape. 2001. In vivo activation of antigen-specific CD4 T cells. *Annu Rev Immunol 19:23*.
- 4. Obhrai, J., and D. R. Goldstein. 2006. The role of toll-like receptors in solid organ transplantation. *Transplantation* 81:497.
- 5. Morelli, A. E., and A. W. Thomson. 2003. Dendritic cells: regulators of alloimmunity and opportunities for tolerance induction. *Immunol Rev 196:125*.
- 6. Halloran, P. F. 2004. Immunosuppressive drugs for kidney transplantation. *N Engl J Med 351:2715*.
- 7. Day, B. J., I. Batinic-Haberle, and J. D. Crapo. 1999. Metalloporphyrins are potent inhibitors of lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med 26:730*.
- 8. Land, W. G. 2007. Innate immunity-mediated allograft rejection and strategies to prevent it. *Transplant Proc* 39:667.

Copyright permission is granted for figures, text, and tables from:

9. Sklavos, M. M., H. M. Tse, and J. D. Piganelli. 2008. Redox modulation inhibits CD8 T cell effector function. *Free Radic Biol Med* 45:1477.

Documents of permission are on record with Martha Milton Sklavos

# Copyright © by Martha Milton Sklavos 2009

## REDOX MODULATION PROTECTS FROM ANTIGEN-INDEPENDENT AND ANTIGEN-DEPENDENT INJURY IN ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

Martha Milton Sklavos

University of Pittsburgh, 2009

The preservation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) throughout evolution is evidence that ROS are critical components in immunity. These constituents ignite a multitude of redoxdependent pathways triggering pro-inflammatory cytokine production, dendritic cell maturation, and subsequent T cell activation in response to pathogen, autoimmune, and alloimmune insults. The aim of this thesis is to test the ability of redox modulation to suppress aberrant immune responses in islet transplantation. Presently, islet transplantation is only used in desperate cases of glucose dysregulation due to the high failure rate of the procedure, which forces the majority of recipients to resume exogenous insulin within a year of islet transplantation. Hurdles in islet transplantation include hypoxia during islet isolation and ischemia-reperfusion injury upon These insults result in primary non-function of islets, while harsh transplantation. immunosuppressive agents yield islet toxicity and a multitude of complications for the recipient. We tested a catalytic antioxidant (CA), FBC-007, in islet transplantation based on previous work demonstrating that CA impairs innate-immune ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokine production by inhibiting NFkB-DNA binding, hinders CD4 T cell activation, and prevents the transfer of diabetes into young NOD.scid mice.

First, the effects of redox modulation on CD8 T cell effector function in allogeneic and transgenic responses were examined *in vitro*. Human islets were also used *in vitro* and murine experiments were performed *in vivo* to test the ability of CA to protect from streptozotocin-induced islet cell death. Additionally, murine islets were incubated with CA in *in vivo* models of

ischemia-reperfusion injury (antigen-independent) or allogeneic (antigen-dependent) transplantation and separately, CA was used as a systemic therapy for allograft recipients. Further experiments were performed to elucidate in vivo protective mechanisms of CAtreatment. An additional approach of interest is the induction of antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness to replace nonspecific immunosuppression. A negative vaccination strategy delivering apoptotic donor alloantigen in a non-inflammatory adjuvant prior to allograft transplantation, was also tested. Collectively, this work demonstrates 1) CA is a non-toxic, isletsparing, cytoprotective, and immunomodulatory agent capable of promoting islet-function, 2) CA impairs the alloimmune response to induce antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness, and 3) the negative vaccination protocol achieves long-term allograft tolerance.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I must thank the people to whom I owe everything, my parents, Barbara and Gene Milton. Their love, support, devotion and belief in me have been amazing and inspiring. I was/am exceedingly fortunate to be raised by such intelligent, caring, witty, wise, loving, fun and generous people. With each passing day I appreciate them more and more as parents and as friends.

My husband, Peter, literally is my "rock" (Πετροσ/Petros) and my best friend. He has been my hero throughout the ups and downs of graduate school and life; always a comfort who rescues my spirits and propels me forward. His love, support, friendship, silliness and caring ways make me feel like the luckiest girl in the world. Thank you for always being there for me, for making me laugh, for letting me dream big, and for cleaning up after I cook dinner and destroy the kitchen.

None of this work would have been possible without my mentor, Dr. Jon Piganelli. I feel like I have "grown up" in his lab. I thank Jon for giving me roots and wings. He has molded me into an independent-thinker, who isn't afraid to think outside of the box. While he is passionate and intent about his science, his lab is his second family and he cares about the people who work for him beyond the lab bench. I am honored to have been part of his lab, fortunate to have worked on his science, lucky to have him as a mentor and friend, and look forward to collaborating with him at some point in the future. He is an indispensable asset not only to the graduate students in his lab, but to all graduate students who are lucky enough to come in contact with him, as he is an inspiring and passionate mentor, researcher, teacher, innovator, and

collaborator. It is my hope that my thesis work will help move the approach of redox modulation to impair aberrant immune responses from his lab into the clinic someday soon.

I was lucky enough to have a second mentor in the lab, Dr. Hubert Tse. I aspire to achieve his level of science. He was/is an excellent teacher, who is credited for teaching me every technique I know. It helps that he is an all-knowing lab ninja, who is seemingly an expert in every technique that exists and his protocols are superior, always yielding the best results. I thank Hubert for his willingness to help with science questions, revising manuscripts, computer disasters and because he always has an ear to listen to any problem I might be having in or out of the lab. Moreover, Hubert is a friend, who can always put a smile on my face and I wish him much good fortune as he starts his own lab at the University of Alabama.

My sister-graduate students, Gina Coudriet and Meghan Delmastro, have been outstanding morale-boosters, colleagues, and confidants. Thank you for being such wonderfully supportive lab mates that have made the close quarters of the "new Rangos" feel more cozy than confining. I am so fortunate to have worked with you both in the lab, more fortunate to have your friendships, and can't wait to see what the future holds for us in science and in life in the years to come.

A big thank you to the lab's lone technician, Jennifer Profozich, who has moved mountains to make sure I get mice and reagents when I need them. Thank you for being there for ordering-support as a technician and for emotional support as a friend throughout the years.

In addition to Jon, I must also thank the other members of my thesis committee: Dr. Jay Kolls, Dr. Adrian Morelli, Dr. Angus Thomson, and Dr. Massimo Trucco. I appreciate all of their efforts to ensure that I produced the most pertinent data to answer my scientific questions. I thank them for their interest in my science and for their support as I start my career as a scientist.

vii

I will strive to emulate their examples of outstanding scientists doing outstanding science.

I also thank Dr. Suzanne Bertera for being my islet transplant buddy, for her magic islettransplanting hands, for her friendship and for her care with and interest in my work.

I also want to thank Patrick Hnidka and Darleen Noah for always helping me with administrative obligations and for their moral support. They always brighten my day.

Cindy Duffy and everyone in the graduate student office have been so helpful and encouraging while they helped me navigate through the intricate administrative side of graduate school. Thank you for your time and for your uplifting emails.

I also want to thank Michelle Failing and Ryan Moeslein, the past and present administrators in the immunology department, for making sure I fill out course registration forms and complete other administrative paperwork and tasks on time.

I also must acknowledge the endless list of family, friends and friends who are like family to me. This is a very large and special group of people who have been immensely supportive of my graduate work throughout the roller coaster ride of graduate school. I am excited to finally answer their long-standing question "Are you done with school yet?" with a 3 letter word instead of a 2 letter word.

Last, but certainly not least, a very special thank you to Dr. Massimo Trucco for his support, guidance, and help throughout my graduate career and beyond, and to the members of his Diabetes Institute at the Rangos Research Center at Children's Hospital, where people are very willing to take time away from their own science to foster another's.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKN	NOWL	EDGEMENTSxi-xiii
LIST	OF TA	BLESxiv
LIST	OF FIG	GURESxv-xvii
1.0	CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
	1.1	TYPE 1 DIABETES1-3
	1.2	ISLET TRANSPLANTATION
		1.2.1 Islet transplantation today
		<b>1.2.2</b> Clinical islet transplantation: the Edmonton protocol6
		1.2.3 Allograft rejection7-12
		1.2.4 Immunosuppressive anti-rejection drugs12-14
		1.2.5 Difficulties resulting from islet isolation14-15
	1.3	REDOX MODULATION15-17
2.0 CHAPTER TWO: REDOX MODULATION INHIBITS CD8 T CELL EFF FUNCTION		PTER TWO: REDOX MODULATION INHIBITS CD8 T CELL EFFECTOR
		CTION
	2.1	ABSTRACT
	2.2	INTRODUCTION19-22
	2.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS
		2.3.1 Mice and cell lines
		2.3.2 Reagents
		2.3.3 Mixed Leukocyte Reactions (MLRs)23-24

	2.3.4 OT-1 assays24
	2.3.5 <i>In vitro</i> cell proliferation24
	2.3.6 Cytokine measurements by ELISA24-25
	2.3.7 Cytotoxicity assay by DELFIA25-26
	2.3.8 Flow-cytometric analysis26
	2.3.9 Annexin V viability experiments27
	2.3.10 Intracellular ROS detection by CM-H <sub>2</sub> DCFDA27
	2.3.11 Trypan blue exclusion viability experiments28
	2.3.12 Intracellular staining and FACS analysis
	2.3.13 Statistical Analysis29
2.4	RESULTS
	2.4.1 Redox modulation suppresses cell proliferation and the production of
	IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 in a primary mixed leukocyte reaction
	(MLR)
	2.4.2 Redox modulation impairs the ability of alloantigen-specific cytotoxic
	lymphocytes (CTLs) to kill MHC-mismatched target cells31-32
	2.4.3 Redox modulation suppresses OT-1 CD8 T cell proliferation and IL-2,
	IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 production in a primary antigen-recall assay33-36
	2.4.4 Redox modulation impairs the ability of antigen-specific OT-1
	cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) to kill their corresponding antigen-expressing
	target cells
	2.4.5 Cell toxicity is not a mechanism of immunoregulation by CA39-41

		2.4.6	Induction of a regulatory population is not a mechanism of
		immu	noregulation by CA41-43
		2.4.7	Redox modulation hinders intracellular ROS production in CD8 T
		cells	
		2.4.8	Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN-y,
		perfo	rin, and granzyme B and surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on
		alloan	tigen-specific CTLs and OVA-specific CTLs45-47
	2.5	DISC	USSION
3.0	CHA	PTER 1	THREE: REDOX MODULATION PROTECTS ISLETS FROM
	TRAN	NSPLA	NT-RELATED INJURY54-75
	3.1	ABST	RACT54-55
	3.2	INTR	ODUCTION55-57
	3.3	MAT	ERIALS AND METHODS57-62
		3.3.1	Human islets57
		3.3.2	Human islet experiments57-58
		3.3.3	Human islet viability assays58
		3.3.4	Mice
		3.3.5	Systemic treatment with CA to inhibit STZ-induced diabetes59
		3.3.6	Syngeneic transplants59-60
		3.3.7	Islet-directed CA-treatment to delay allograft rejection61
		3.3.8	Systemic delivery of CA in pellet form to delay allograft
		reject	ion61-62
		3.3.9	Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of islet-bearing kidneys62

		3.3.10 Statistical analysis62	
	3.4.	RESULTS	
		3.4.1 CA protects human islets from STZ-induced cell death63-64	
		3.4.2 Systemic treatment with CA inhibits streptozotocin-induced	
		diabetes65	
		3.4.3 Islets incubated with CA prior to syngeneic transplant exhibit	
		increased function by intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test	
		(IPGTT)	
		3.4.4 Islet-directed CA-treatment delays allograft rejection in an MHC-	
		mismatched islet transplant model68-69	
		3.4.5 Systemic delivery of CA prolongs allograft function in an MHC-	
		mismatched islet transplant model70-71	
	3.5	DISCUSSION72-75	
4.0	) CHAPTER FOUR: AN ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC NEGATIVE VACCINATION		
	USIN	G APOPTOTIC DONOR CELLS ADMINISTERED IN A NON-	
	INFL	AMMATORY ADJUAVANT INDUCES LONG-TERM ALLOGRAFT	
	TOLI	ERANCE	
	4.1	ABSTRACT76-77	
	4.2	INTRODUCTION77-79	
	4.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS79-84	
		4.3.1 Mice79	
		4.3.2 Viability assays	
		4.3.3 Mixed Leukocyte Reactions (MLRs)80	

4.3.4 In vitro analysis of the $T_{\rm H}1$ response after treatment with the
therapeutic strategies81
4.3.5 Cytokine measurements by ELISA81
4.3.6 Islet allograft transplants82-83
4.3.7 Immunohistochemical analysis83
4.3.8 Statistical analysis84
4.4. RESULTS
4.4.1 Treating splenocytes with 3500 rads induces apoptosis
4.4.2 The Th1 response after treatment with the therapeutic strategies in
naïve mice not receiving a transplant86-87
4.4.3 The negative vaccination strategy induces long-term allograft
tolerance
4.4.4 The $T_H1$ response in recipients of the therapeutic strategies 14 days
post-transplant90-91
4.4.5 Immunohistochemical analysis of islet-bearing kidneys 14 days post-
transplant92-93
4.5 DISCUSSION
SUPPLEMENTAL DATA FOR FIGURES 13, 14, 17, 20 & 21
CONCLUSIONS

# LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1. CD8 T cell viability is not significantly affected by redox modulation......41

# LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1. Pathophysiology of type 1 diabetes2
Fig. 2. Central concepts underlying islet transplantation5
Fig. 3. Diagrammatic representation of a productive primary CD4 T cell response in the
presence of adjuvant-induced inflammation8
Fig. 4. Diagrammatic representation of an unproductive CD4 T cell response in the
absence of inflammation8
Fig. 5. Role of dedritic cells (DC) in peripheral tolerance and graft rejection10
Fig. 6. Model for the role of innate TLR-dependent immunity in acute allograft
rejection11
Fig. 7. Individual immunosuppressive drugs and sites of action13
Fig. 8. Structure of FBC-007/CA also known as (manganese (II) tetrakis (N-ethylpyridium-
2-yl) porphyrin)16
Fig. 9. Simplified schematic illustration of intracellular TLR-triggered/mediated signaling
pathways resulting, via activation of transcription factors, in the expression of "innate"
genes involved in inflammation, antiviral responses, and maturation of DCs with respect to
allograft injury and rejection pathways17
Fig. 10. Redox modulation suppresses cell proliferation and cytokine production in
a primary MLR
Fig. 11. Redox modulation diminishes the ability of alloantigen-specific CTLs to kill their

MHC-mismatched target cells in a cytotoxicity assay32
Fig. 12. Redox modulation suppresses proliferation and cytokine production in a primary
OT-1 assay
Fig. 13. Redox modulation inhibits IL-2 receptor $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on OT-1
Transgenic CD8 T cells
Fig. 14. Redox modulation has no effect on IL-2 receptor $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on
BALB/c T cells
Fig. 15. Redox modulation diminishes the ability of antigen-specific OT-1 CTLs to kill
their corresponding antigen-expressing target cells in a cytotoxicity assay
Fig. 16. Redox modulation enhances cell viability40
Fig. 17. Redox modulation does not induce Foxp3 expression42
Fig. 18. Redox modulation does not induce increased IL-10 production43
Fig. 19. Redox modulation inhibits CD8 T cell ROS production44
Fig. 20. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN-y, perforin, granzyme
B, and surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on alloantigen specific CTLs46
Fig. 21. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN-y, perforin, granzyme
B, and surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on OT-1 CTLs47
Fig. 22. CA protects human islets from STZ-induced cell-death64
Fig. 23. Systemic CA-treatment inhibits STZ-induced diabetes
Fig. 24. Pre-treating islets with CA prior to syngeneic transplant improves islet
function67
Fig. 25. Pre-treating islets with CA prior to allogeneic transplant improves islet
function

Fig. 26. Systemic CA-treatment delays allograft rejection
Fig. 27. Irradiation induces apoptosis in BALB/c splenocyte85
Fig. 28. In vivo treatment with CA or a negative vaccination is not immunogenic or harshly
Immunosuppressive
Fig. 29. CA delays allograft rejection and a negative vaccination induces long-term
allograft tolerance
Fig. 30. CA-treatment or a negative vaccination can impair the $T_{\rm H}1$ response in a recall
MLR 14 days post-allotransplant91
Fig. 31. Immunohistochemistry of islet-bearing kidneys 14 days post-transplant93

# **1.0 CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 TYPE 1 DIABETES**

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease that is mediated by autoreactive T cells working in concert with macrophages to recruit inflammatory cells to islets to target and destroy insulin-producing  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas in genetically predisposed individuals (Figure 1). According to the World Health Organization approximately 18 million people suffer from T1D worldwide. Though T1D is known as juvenile diabetes, the disease has been diagnosed in patients ranging in ages from babies under 1 year old to middle-aged adults. T1D can be difficult to diagnose as untreated diabetics display symptoms similar to the flu including weight loss and fatigue. In the absence of endogenously produced insulin, type 1 diabetics require administration of exogenous insulin multiple times a day to avoid hyperglycemia and maintain blood glucose levels within a normal range. Hyperglycemia has adverse systemic effects resulting in chronic conditions of the nervous and circulatory systems that can lead to blindness. amputation of limbs, and an increased prevalence of heart attacks. Conversely, hypoglycemia is more acutely dangerous in that low blood sugar can lead to seizures and a coma, which is especially deadly during sleep when hallmark signs of hypoglycemia-like confusion and dizziness go undetected.

Autoreactive antibodies have been characterized in patients with type 1 diabetes, though these markers are not steadfast and thus, not accurate enough to positively identify people who

1



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Fig. 1. Pathophysiology of type 1 diabetes. a | First, under still undefined pathogenic conditions, modified islet -cell antigens are released and presented by MHC class I molecules. These previously 'cryptic' antigens are presented by tissue-resident antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and recognized by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that cause damage to MHC-class-I-expressing cells either through the release of cytotoxic cytokines (such as IFN-y) or through the perform - granzyme pathway. **b** | The released islet -cell components are taken up by immature dendritic cells (iDCs) in the pancreatic islets and transported to the draining pancreatic lymph nodes, where the antigens are processed and presented to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Lymph-node priming is thought to be the second crucial step leading to expansion of low frequency circulating autoreactive T cells. After clonal expansion,  $CD4^+$ effector T cells express adhesion molecules, such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1) and lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA1), and chemokine receptors, such as CC-chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4), CCR5 and CXC-chemokine receptor 3. This allows the effector cells to home to the pancreatic islets, tracing antigen gradients and chemokines induced by the early CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell-mediated inflammatory response.  $\mathbf{c}$  | Once in the pancreas, the activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells recruit and activate inflammatory cells, causing insulitis. The effector phase of islet -cell destruction is mediated by cytokines (mainly IL-1 and TNF through the induction of pro-apoptotic signalling selectively in islet  $\beta$ -cells and/or by inducing the expression of CD95 by islet -cells, which allows direct killing by CD95 ligand (CD95L)-expressing effector T cells. There is also evidence that the production of free radicals is involved in the pathogenic events leading to islet -cell destruction (not shown). Regulatory T cells can intervene at different stages to control type 1 diabetes. As in graft-versus-host disease, it is likely that regulatory T cells are first activated in the pancreatic lymph nodes. Activated naturally occurring forkhead box P3 (FOXP3)<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T (T<sub>Reg</sub>) cells and T regulatory type 1 ( $T_{R}$ 1) cells, through distinct regulatory mechanisms, block the activation and expansion of effector T cells either directly or indirectly through APCs. Expression of adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors by effector T cells is also suppressed by regulatory T cells, with consequent reduced effector T-cell migration to the target organ. The aggressiveness of insulitis is also directly inhibited in the pancreas by regulatory T cells.  $T_R1$  cells, through IL-10 and (TGF- $\beta$ ) production, can inhibit the onset of disease and reduce inflammation.

From (8). Used with permission

will or will not progress to clinical disease. Upon confirmed diagnosis of hyperglycemia, approximately 70% of  $\beta$ -cells have been destroyed (6). Since there is an absence of timely disease predictors or safe treatments for children, when disease onset usually occurs, prophylactic therapy to discourage islet destruction prior to T1D onset is not yet justified. HLA Class II alleles (DRB1\*03, DRB1\*04, DRB1\*03/04) are paramount for T1D development (9), though environmental factors including exposure to certain viruses and bacteria reportedly promote the progression of diabetes onset as evidenced by cases where only one identical twin succumbs to T1D (10). Currently there is no cure for T1D, though innovations like the insulin pump, improved methods of monitoring blood glucose levels, better nutritional knowledge, and the availability of a variety of foods with a low glycemic index have improved survival rates and quality of life for T1D patients. Presently, allogeneic islet transplantation is the only therapy able to achieve any time period of exogenous insulin independence for type 1 diabetics.

#### **1.2 ISLET TRANSPLANTATION**

## **1.2.1 Islet transplantation today**

Islet transplantation is a potential cure for T1D patients, however only patients with extreme glucose dysregulation are eligible for the procedure (11). Even though islet transplantation outcomes have improved with the development of the Edmonton protocol, recipients rarely maintain insulin-independence for more than 2 years (12, 13). Poor transplant outcomes can be attributed to the multitude of antigen-independent barriers transplanted islets must overcome prior to the initiation of the antigen-dependent alloimmune response. These

antigen-independent injuries include devascularization, hypoxia, damage during isolation due to enzymatic digestion, donor age and cause of death, and cold storage time. All of these factors contribute to some recipients requiring islets from up to 3 pancreata to achieve any period of normoglycemia (14). Beyond the direct injury to islets in transplantation there is the limited supply of islets available for transplantation. To refine islet transplantation, Ricordi developed a superior method of islet isolation. The number of potential diabetic recipients far exceeds the number of donor pancreata slated for islet transplantation (14-16) as younger, healthier donors are typically reserved for whole organ transplantation, which has a waiting list of its own. The disparity in organ quality between whole pancreas versus islet transplantation contributes to the requirement of multiple islet infusions to normalize a recipient and increased transplant success using the whole organ over islet cell transplants. These factors, coupled with the intrinsically decreased antioxidant defenses of  $\beta$ -cells (17-22), increases islet vulnerability to inflammatory and free radical insults during islet isolation prior to encountering post-transplant complexities (15) of allograft rejection as a result of nonspecific immunosuppressive agents.

Allograft rejection necessitates the use of potent anti-rejection drugs, though some commonly used immunosuppressive drugs are toxic to islets and yield undesirable complications including chronic infection, organ damage, and malignancy (1, 3, 11, 13, 15, 23). Since human islets are delivered into the portal vein en route to the liver, the instant blood-mediated immune response (BMIR) leading to coagulation, complement activation and islet damage must also be overcome. Shapiro, et al at Edmonton outlined criteria for the islet transplant procedure that highlights a corticosteroid-free regimen of treatment for the transplant recipient that is less toxic to  $\beta$ -cells (13). This collective protocol is the basis for clinical islet isolations and infusions worldwide (Figure 2).



**Fig. 2.** Central concepts underlying islet transplantation. The main idea of islet transplantation is to process the organ donor's pancreas so as to remove the 95% of the gland responsible for its exocrine functions (secretion of digestive enzymes) and isolate the 5% of the gland responsible for the endocrine hormone secretion— the so-called pancreatic islets. Once isolated, the medical team can infuse the insulin-producing islets through a thin tube, placed in the main vein that transports blood from the intestines to the liver. Once infused, the islets are transported by the bloodstream into the liver, where they lodge, take up residence, and begin making the right amount of insulin to regulate the blood sugar. Illustration:

From (3). The Public Library of Science (PLoS) applies the <u>Creative Commons Attribution</u> <u>License</u> (CCAL) to all works we publish. No permission is required from the authors or the publishers.

#### **1.2.2** Clinical islet transplantation: the Edmonton protocol

According to the Edmonton protocol, donor and recipient are not HLA-matched, but are matched for blood type and cross-matched for lymphocytotoxic antibodies. To avoid further complications subtle, but critical, media additives are also used, including the use of human albumin instead of media containing xenoproteins. Initially the pancreas is removed from a brain dead donor while the recipient begins the Edmonton regimen of corticosteroid-free immunosuppression prior to transplant. Next, the pancreas is infused with cold collagenase via the bile duct and then placed into the Ricordi chamber for mechanical dissociation, to separate the islets from the exocrine tissue. Once harvested, the pancreata are maintained in cold University of Wisconsin solution. Islets are purified using Ficoll-diatrizoic acid in an apherisis system and upon purification islets are transplanted without culturing (12). Islets are perfused into the portal vein to facilitate liver engraftment in medium containing 500 units of heparin and 20% human albumin at 4000 islet equivalents (IEQ) per kilogram of the recipient's body weight in the original report from Edmonton (12), though Barker, Naji, Markmann and others believe that more IEQ ( $\geq$  9,000 IEQ/kg) are necessary to achieve increased periods of insulinindependence (11, 24). Any additional success accompanying an increase in IEQ/kg is most likely attributed to increased islet survival after islet loss from hypoxia, isolation-induced stress and post-transplant ischemia-reperfusion injury. Due to perfusion into the portal vein, BMIR is treated with heparin and complement inhibitors, but the antigen-specific T cell-mediated alloimmune response is not easily overcome requiring potent immunosuppressive-agents to inhibit allograft rejection.

## 1.2.3 Allograft rejection

Damage incurred during the islet isolation process is a prominent reason why whole pancreas transplantation is more successful than islet transplantation, as a whole organ is manipulated less and retains vascularization within the organ (25). However, in a cell or whole organ transplant, removing the pancreas from the donor initiates hypoxia and activation of antigen-independent innate immune ligands through TLR activation. Innate immune activation results in the release of reactive oxygen species and pro-inflammatory cytokines which facilitates an adaptive immune response (2, 5, 7, 26-29). Activation of innate immune ligands induces APC maturation, bridging the innate and adaptive immune systems (2, 5, 7, 26-29). Taken together, antigen-independent inflammatory damage incurred during islet isolation and ischemia-reperfusion injury exacerbates antigen-dependent allograft rejection by triggering inflammatory signals required for adaptive immune function.

Professional antigen presenting cells (APC), such as DCs, phagocytose allopeptide shed from the graft and migrate to the draining lymph nodes to activate naïve allospecific T cells through (1) peptide:MHC:TCR engagement and (2) co-stimulatory molecule interactions between the T cell and the activated DC, which matures as a result of (3) the synthesis of proinflammatory innate immune ligands (26-32). The third signal is a culmination of innate immune-derived pro-inflammatory cytokines and ROS and is a precursory requirement with respect to the two other signals for both DC maturation and subsequent T cell activation (Figures 3 and 4).



Reprinted, with permission, from the Annual Review of Immunology, Volume 19 (c) 2001 by Annual Reviews www.annualreviews.org<http://www.annualreviews.org>

Allograft rejection occurs through two distinct pathways, the direct and indirect pathways (Figure 5B). In the direct pathway, mature donor DC (passenger leukocytes) migrate to lymph nodes to present their allospecific MHC to allospecific recipient T cells. The indirect pathway contributes to rejection when mature recipient DCs process and present alloantigen to allospecific recipient T cells. Through either pathway, the end result is activated allospecific T cells which engage in acute allograft rejection by acquiring effector function and homing to the site of the allograft to destroy the alloantigen-expressing donor islets (5). The critical difference between immune settings of self-tolerance or allograft rejection correlates to a steady state or inflammatory immune environment, respectively, which dictates the activation/maturation state of DCs (Figure 5A). Even if acute rejection is overcome, the allograft is a constant source of alloantigen that will repeat the activation process to prime allospecific T cells resulting in chronic rejection.

Within these processes, CD8 T cells directly participate in islet death via target cell lysis. CD4 T cells play a role in allograft rejection indirectly by further activating macrophages and B cells and by providing T cell help to CD8 T cells by up-regulating co-stimulatory molecules through APC interactions and the synthesis of  $T_{H1}$  and  $T_{H17}$  pro-inflammatory cytokines, like IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17. It is also possible that CD4 T cells interact directly with CD8 T cells to enhance the alloimmune response. At the site of the graft, CD4 T cells initiate pro-inflammatory cytokine production by macrophages (reactive oxygen species, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ ) to induce direct and indirect islet cytotoxicity, and subsequently, islet dysfunction and death. Most notably, the combination of IFN- $\gamma$  from CD4 T cells and IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  from macrophages prompts  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis, but this combination of cytokines also promotes CD8 cytotoxic lymphocyte (CTL) migration to the allograft (6). Additionally, CD4 T cells activate B cells,



Fig. 5. Role of dendritic cells (DCs) in peripheral tolerance and graft rejection. (A) During steady-state conditions (absence of pro-inflammatory or danger signals), peripheral tissue-resident DCs capture selfantigens from neighboring parenchymal cells via uptake of apoptotic cells, vesicular exchange with living cells, or endocytosis of soluble molecules. DCs mobilize [likely as semi-mature antigen-presenting cells (APCs)] via lymphatic or blood vessels from the periphery to T-cell areas of secondary lymphoid organs. Once there, DCs present self-antigens to autoreactive T cells that escaped thymic selection. Under physiological conditions, DCs in T-cell areas of spleen or lymph nodes express low levels of T-cell costimulatory molecules and induce a transient and weak proliferation of autoreactive T cells followed by T-cell deletion, anergy, and, probably, generation of Treg cells. (B) Following transplantation surgery, proinflammatory mediators released locally, ischemia-reperfusion injury, and the presence of necrotic cells trigger full maturation of donor DCs (donor tissues and cells are in red) and recipient DCs (recipient cells are in blue) that infiltrate the graft as part of the inflammatory reaction. Both donor- and recipient-derived DCs migrate out of the graft as passenger leukocytes. Once in the T-cell area of the secondary lymphoid organs, mature donor DCs present allo-major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules to alloreactive T cells (direct pathway) and mature recipient DCs present allopeptides loaded into self-MHC molecules to recipient T cells recognizing allopeptides in the context of self-MHC molecules (indirect pathway). From (5). Used with permission

10



Fig. 6. Model for the role of innate TLR-dependent immunity in acute allograft rejection. Donor organ harvest and implantation results in ischemia-reperfusion injury that may be mediated by TLR signaling and release innate immune ligands. These ligands allow DCs (donor or recipient) to mature and migrate to the draining lymph nodes. The maturation of DCs leads to the production of proinflammatory cytokines that aid in naïve T cell priming and render the generated effector T cells resistant to host suppressive mechanisms. The armed effectors than initiate acute graft rejection.

Modified from (3, 7). Used with permission.

propagating further inflammation and islet death through antibody-mediated responses to the allogeneic islet graft. The concert of these mechanisms leads to destruction of the islet allograft in the absence of immunosuppression (Figure 6), though graft failure often occurs in spite of treatment with anti-rejection drugs.

## **1.2.4** Immunosuppressive anti-rejection drugs

Due to the alloimmune response, immunosuppression of the recipient is required to protect from graft destruction. The T cell precursor frequency for alloantigen (<1/10,000) is immensely higher compared to the precursory frequency of T cells specific for a nominal antigen (1/200,000) (33-35). Therefore, immunosuppression must be very potent to control an allogeneic response after transplantation. Current anti-rejection drugs used to restrain the alloimmune response, like sirolimus and tacrolimus (Figure 7), are nonspecific and suppress immune function globally. Additionally, the majority of these immunosuppressive agents target the T cell and the adaptive immune response, though it is well-known that the activation state of the APC shapes the adaptive immune response (2, 5, 7, 29, 36). The depressed state of the immune system under immunosuppression often leads to complications including cancer, chronic infection and organ damage. More specifically, commonly used anti-rejection drugs induce  $\beta$ -cell toxicity, adding another hurdle when striving to achieve graft survival.

According to the Edmonton protocol, the recipient is treated with glucocorticoid-free immuosuppression prior to islet transplantation including a loading dose of sirolimus, low-dose tacrolimus (FK506), and daclizumab (anti-CD25). Prophylactic antibiotics (vancomycin and imipenem) are administered prior to transplant and so are the antioxidants, vitamin E, vitamin

 $B_6$ , and vitamin A, in attempt to impair free radical production (37). Post-transplant maintenance concentrations of sirolimus and tacrolimus are generally maintained and 4 more doses of daclizumab, inhaled pentamidine once a month to avert pneumocystis, and ganciclovir for 14 weeks to avert cytomegalovirus and lymphoproliferative disease are also administered. Initially, this protocol sustains allograft function as demonstrated by insulin-independence and euglycemia (12). However, in a five-year follow-up study of islet transplant recipients under the Edmonton group, only 5 recipients were normoglycemic after one transplant, 52 patients required two transplants, and 11 patients required three transplants to achieve insulin independence for any length of time. The average duration of insulin independence for all transplant recipients was only 15 months.



**Fig. 7. Individual immunosuppressive drugs and sites of action** *From (1). Used with permission.* 

The authors concluded that there is a need for improved islet engraftment and function in addition to the need for novel immunosuppressive drugs uncoupled to toxicity and other harmful side effects like hypertension, fungal pneumonia, and malignancy. These side effects can compromise the transplant and lead to transplant rejection, namely when the side effect requires immunosuppressive regimens to be reduced or eliminated. In the current state of islet transplantation, which is inseparably coupled to complications, an islet transplant may be more of a detriment than of benefit, especially for patients with poorly controlled glucose levels, but preserved kidney function (3). The development of superior immunosuppressives and new protocols to preserve islet viability and function during isolation and engraftment could greatly benefit recipients of islet allografts by promoting long-term insulin-independence and limiting transplant-associated complications.

## **1.2.5** Difficulties resulting from islet isolation

In transplantation, islets are increasingly exposed to free radical and inflammatory insults compared to whole pancreas transplantation. When a pancreas is excised from donor circulation for a whole organ transplant, vasculature is maintained, however, when a pancreas is excised for islet transplant, the organ endures further manipulation including removal of the organ's vasculature and pancreatic lymph, which promotes allograft tolerance (25). Both whole pancreas and islet transplants incur hypoxic and ischemia-reperfusion injury, though islets must also withstand the process of isolation. Islet isolation is a conundrum as it equates to a less-invasive procedure compared to whole pancreas transplantation, though the islet purification process is harmful to  $\beta$ -cell function and viability. Islet isolation entails additional hypoxic time and

subsequent inflammatory damage fueled by reactive oxygen species and pro-inflammatory cytokines generated by islets, acinar tissue, and resident leukocytes antigen-independent innatemediated injury. Since antigen-independent, nonspecific inflammatory damage results in primary  $\beta$ -cell non-function and death, cytoprotection of islets is needed during islet isolation and transplantation. The benefits of cytoprotection are repeatedly touted in the literature, but without notable recourse that is practical for use in clinical islet transplantation (2, 15, 38-40).

#### **1.3 REDOX MODULATION BY THE CATALYTIC ANTIOXIDANT, FBC-007**

Controlling the innate immune response in the context of allograft transplantation is of increasing interest as more investigators appreciate the role of a mature or immature APC/DC to impart immunity or tolerance, respectively (7, 41-43). There is an overwhelming request for cytoprotective agents for islet allografts, which must endure islet isolation and nonspecific inflammatory cascades prior to post-transplant ischemia-reperfusion injury and the onslaught of the alloimmune response (2, 15, 38-40, 44). These compounding factors necessitate an approach in islet transplantation that is cytoprotective, immunomodulatory, and antigen-specific to achieve long-term, consistent success in islet transplantation.

Redox modulation is capable of addressing several unresolved issues in allograft transplantation since it targets both the innate and adaptive immune systems. The agent used as a molecular probe of redox modulation is the catalytic antioxidant (CA) FBC-007, which is comprised of a metaloporphyrin ring with a manganese ion in the center (Figure 8). CA can scavenge and dissipate a broad range of ROS (4, 45-48) and displays oxido-reductase activity in



# Metalloporphyrins

**Fig. 8.** Structure of FBC-007/CA also known as (manganese(II) tetrakis (*N*-ethylpyridium-2-yl) porphyrin). R groups for FBC-007/CA shown in the black box. *From (4). Used with permission.* 

the ability to oxidize and reduce redox-sensitive proteins to exert immunomodulatory effects depending upon the redox environment.

Specifically, CA inhibits the redox-sensitive transcription factor, NF- $\kappa$ B, by oxidizing cysteine 62 of the NF- $\kappa$ B p50 DNA binding site subunit to prevent DNA binding and expression of NF $\kappa$ B-dependent gene transcription in the nucleus (48). Impairment of NF- $\kappa$ B activation is responsible, in part, for downstream effects of CA-treatment including the ability of CA to block the adoptive transfer of type 1 diabetes in young NOD.*scid* mice using a diabetogenic T cell clone (49), to suppress the production of ROS, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in LPS-stimulated

macrophages and DC (48), and to impair the production of TNF- $\alpha$  thereby disrupting the transition of T cell expansion to effector function (26). CA can be used as islet-directed (cytoprotection) or systemically (immunomodulatory) in small molecule form. Additionally, human islets treated with CA during islet isolation or in culture preserve islet function and viability (38, 39). The benefits of redox modulation using CA warrant use in allograft transplantation when considering the cytoprotective properties of CA and its ability to inhibit innate and adaptive immune effector function without inducing toxicity (Figure 9).





From (2). Used with permission.

# 2.0 CHAPTER 2: REDOX MODULATION INHIBITS CD8 T CELL EFFECTOR FUNCTION

#### 2.1 ABSTRACT

The evolutionary preservation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in innate immunity underscores the important roles these constituents play in immune cell activity and as signaling intermediates. In an effort to exploit these pathways to achieve control of aberrant immune activation we demonstrate that modulation of redox status suppresses cell proliferation and production of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 in two robust CD8 T cell-dependent *in vitro* mouse models: (1) response to alloantigen in an mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR) and (2) CD8 T cell receptor transgenic OT-1 response to cognate peptide (SIINFEKL). To correlate these findings with (cytotoxic lymphocyte) CTL function we performed cytotoxicity assays and found that redox modulation diminishes the ability of alloantigen-specific and antigen-specific OT-1 CTLs to kill their corresponding antigen-expressing target cell. To further examine mechanisms of redox-mediated repression of CTL target cell lysis, we analyzed expression of the effector molecules IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin, granzyme B, and the degranulation marker, CD107a (LAMP-1). In both models, redox modulation reduced expression of these effector components by at least 5fold. These results demonstrate that redox modulation quells the CD8 T cell response to alloantigen and the T cell receptor transgenic CD8 T cell response to its cognate antigen by inhibiting proliferation, pro-inflammatory cytokine synthesis, and CTL effector mechanisms.

### **2.2 INTRODUCTION**

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are one of the immune system's oldest yet most effective first lines of defense involved in the eradication and control of infectious agents. Throughout evolution, ROS generated during early events in immune system activation have remained an integral part of a complex immune response. In addition to their capacity to directly kill microbes, ROS are critical signaling intermediates linking the innate and adaptive immune systems by triggering the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ ), termed third signal molecules, by macrophages and DCs (dendritic cells) of the innate immune system. There is growing interest in molecular pathways and signaling mediators linking the innate and adaptive arms of the immune response (50-52) as the innate immune-derived third signal, required for maturation of the adaptive immune response, is dependent on the redox-sensitive signaling pathways MAPK, AP-1 and NF- $\kappa$ B (27, 28, 48, 50-54).

The events of third signal synthesis leading to APC (antigen presenting cell) activation can occur through the binding of toll-like receptors to microbial pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (50-52), the generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (27, 28, 55, 56), or through natural adjuvants that are endogenous activators of APC (57). NF-κB activation of APCs results in third signal pro-inflammatory cytokine production and contributes to the upregulation, maturation, and immunostimulatory capability of co-stimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80, CD86) on DC (42, 58-64). Accordingly, this pro-inflammatory third signal is required for
optimizing signal 1 (T cell receptor (TCR), peptide and major histocompatibility complex (MHC) engagement) and signal 2 (co-stimulatory molecule interaction) among APCs and naïve T cells. These events, together with IL-12 production by activated, mature DCs, are required to drive naïve T cells to effector function (29, 54, 65).

We have shown that modulating redox balance using a non-toxic, cell-permeable catalytic antioxidant probe FBC-007 (manganese (II) tetrakis (N-ethylpyridium-2-yl) porphyrin) (CA) led to suboptimal APC priming and inefficient activation of the diabetogenic CD4 T cell clone BDC2.5, thereby preventing the adoptive transfer of type 1 diabetes to young NOD.scid mice (49). The CA compound is comprised of a metal center that catalyzes the dismutation of O<sub>2</sub>, mimicking the active metals in naturally occurring mammalian Cu, Zn, or Mn SODs (66-68), harnessing the ability to scavenge several oxidants including superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrite, and lipid peroxyl radicals (4, 26, 45-48, 66). Manganese metalloporphyrins (CA) display oxidoreductase activity and can oxidize redox-sensitive transcription factors such as NF- $\kappa B$ , AP-1, and HIF-1 without inducing toxicity. Accordingly, CA is able to avert endotoxic shock (69), excitotoxic neuronal cell death (70) and apoptosis (71), lipid peroxidation (4), peroxide-induced mitochondrial DNA damage (72), and significantly prolongs survival in phenotype lethal manganese superoxide dismutase knockout mice (26, 48, 73). Additionally, these compounds have been shown to reduce other inflammatory-mediated diseases by limiting oxidative stress in various in vivo rodent models including cancer (74), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (75), and ischemia and reperfusion injury (76). Our mechanistic analysis of CAmediated inhibition of APC function revealed that CA acts as an oxidoreductase, affecting the innate immune response of APCs by inhibiting NF-kB-DNA binding and the synthesis of the NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , which are necessary for

immune cell maturation and for T cells to transition to effector function (27, 28, 48). Most recently, we observed that altering redox balance affects adaptive immune function as demonstrated by decreased antigen-specific CD4 T cell proliferation and type 1 polarizing cytokine synthesis (TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ ) as well as the induction of an antigen-specific hyporesponsive T cell population (26).

The focus of this study is to determine if redox modulation, which is known to inhibit APC and CD4 T cell function (26, 48), has a marked effect on CD8 T cell function in the presence or absence of CD4 T cell help. CD4 T cells indirectly augment CD8 T cell function by inducing increased APC immunostimulatory capability through signal 1 engagement. More specifically, increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules on APC, resulting from signal 1 engagement with CD4 T cells, generates a more potent APC which is able to stimulate naïve CD8 T cells to transition to effector function (77). Additional evidence demonstrates that CD4 T cells can directly interact with CD8 T cells through CD40L-CD40 interactions, respectively, to enhance CD8 T cell maturation (78). Our initial studies demonstrating that redox modulation affects CD4 T cell activation and effector function (26), combined with the knowledge that CD8 T cell maturation and effector function is linked to optimal CD4 T cell help, led to the hypothesis that redox modulation would have marked effects on CD8 T cell activation and effector function is linked to optimal CD4 T cell help.

To examine if redox modulation can affect CD8 T cell function we employed alloantigen-specific and transgenic *in vitro* mouse models representative of increased T cell precursor frequencies compared to that of a nominal antigen in the presence or absence of CD4 T cell help. For the first model we generated alloantigen-specific CTLs (cytotoxic lymphocytes), inclusive of CD4 T cell help, in a mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR) using MHC-mismatched

21

C57BL/6J (C57BL/6, H-2b) responders and BALB/cByJ (BALB/c, H-2d) irradiated stimulators. In the second model we determined if redox modulation had a more direct effect on CD8 T cell effector function using the antigen-specific OT-1 T cell receptor transgenic mouse model, dominantly comprised of OVA peptide<sub>257-264</sub> (SIINFEKL)-specific CD8 T cells (79), in which CD4 T cell help is not necessary, nor available, to augment adaptive immune effector function. Using the two CTL models we demonstrate that redox modulation has a profound effect on T cell proliferation, pro-inflammatory cytokine production, and CTL target cell lysis by reducing the expression of cytolytic effector molecules.

#### 2.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.3.1 Mice and cell lines

OT-1 T cell receptor transgenic mice were bred and housed under specific pathogen-free conditions in the Animal Facility of the Rangos Research Center at the University of Pittsburgh. OT-1 CD8 T cells are transgenic for a TCR specific for a class I-restricted OVA peptide<sub>257-264</sub> (SIINFEKL-K<sup>b</sup>) (79). C57BL/6J (C57BL/6, H-2b) and BALB/cByJ (BALB/c, H-2d) mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. Six to eight week old female mice were used in all experiments. All mouse studies were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of Pittsburgh. EL-4 and EG.7 cell lines were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA). EL-4 cells were grown in complete media (CM) (DMEM supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 10 mM HEPES buffer, 4 mM L-glutamine, 200 μM nonessential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 61.5 μM 2-ME, and 100

 $\mu$ g/ml Gentamicin (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA)) and allowed to grow to 10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture flask (Cellstar, PGC Scientific, San Diego, CA) prior to passing. EG.7 cells were grown in CM with 0.4 mg/ml G418 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and allowed to grow to 10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flask prior to passing.

#### 2.3.2 Reagents

The catalytic antioxidant (CA), FC-007, a kind gift from Dr. James Crapo at National Jewish Research and Medical Center (Denver, CO), was re-suspended in HBSS with Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Invitrogen Life Technologies) at a stock concentration of 2 mM and filter sterilized (.2µm cutoff) before use. The final concentration of CA used for all experiments was 68 µM as previously published (48). Chicken OVA<sub>257-264</sub> (SIINFEKL) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and used at a final concentration of 1µM. CD4, CD8, IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25), CD107a (LAMP-1), IFN- $\gamma$ , granzyme B, perforin, and Foxp3 fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA).

#### 2.3.3 Mixed Leukocyte Reactions (MLRs)

Unidirectional MLRs were performed by co-culture of  $10^6$  C57BL/6 splenocyte stimulators (irradiated with 3000 rads) with  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocyte responders as described by (80) with minor modification. Cytokine analysis of MLR supernatants was performed by ELISA and intracellular cytokine analysis of cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) was performed in 96-well,

round-bottom plates with or without 68  $\mu$ M CA in a final volume of 200  $\mu$ l CM and incubated for 1 to 5 days under normal conditions (37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humid air incubator).

#### 2.3.4 OT-1 assays

 $10^5$  OT-1 splenocytes (unless otherwise noted) and 1  $\mu$ M SIINFEKL peptide were plated with or without 68  $\mu$ M CA at a final volume of 200  $\mu$ l CM in a 96-well, round-bottom plate and incubated for 1, 2, or 3 days under normal conditions.

# 2.3.5 In vitro cell proliferation

For proliferation assays, 96-well MLR were prepared as described above and incubated for 5 days.  $5 \times 10^5$  OT-1 splenocytes were plated in 96-well, round-bottom plates and incubated for 2 or 3 days. For MLR and OT-1 assays, [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR was incorporated on day 5 (MLR) or days 2 and 3 (OT-1) by pulsing wells with 1  $\mu$ Ci of [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR for 18 h, freezing plates for 18 h, followed by thawing plates before samples were harvested onto glass fiber filters using a sample harvester. The amount of incorporated counts was determined using a beta scintillation counter.

#### 2.3.6 Cytokine measurements by ELISA

MLR assays were performed as described above and supernatants were harvested on days 1 through 5 to measure IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 production by ELISA. OT-1 assays were performed as described above and supernatants were harvested on days 1, 2, and 3 to measure

IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  production by ELISA. In order to detect OT-1-derived TNF- $\alpha$  by ELISA, 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> OT-1 splenocytes were plated and supernatants were harvested on days 1, 2, and 3. IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$ , produced in supernatants of 96-well MLR and OT-1 assays, were measured using antibody pairs from BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-17 cytokine analysis of both assays was performed using DuoSet ELISA kits (R & D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). ELISA plates were read on a Spectromax M2 microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) and data were analyzed using Softmax Pro v5.0.1 (Molecular Devices).

### 2.3.7 Cytotoxicity assay by DELFIA

For MHC-mismatched cytotoxicity assays, a primary MLR was performed as described (80, 81) with minor modification, using 2.5 x  $10^6$  BALB/c responders and 2.5 x  $10^6$  C57BL/6 irradiated stimulators in 24-well plates in a final volume of 2 ml CM in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA for 5 days under normal conditions. On day 5, treated and untreated cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) were harvested using cell dissociation buffer (Invitrogen Life Technologies). Simultaneously, EL-4 (H-2b) target cells were labeled with BATDA-reagent and the cytotoxicity assay was performed according to manufacturer's protocol in the DELFIA kit (AD0116: PerkinElmer, Inc, Waltham, MA). 10,000 EL-4 targets were incubated with cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) at 50:1 and 100:1 effector to target ratios for 2 h. Fluorescence of the supernatant was measured in a time-resolved fluorometer. DELFIA data are presented as "percent specific release" based on the formulae in the manufacturer's protocol representing specific lysis of targets cell by effector cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs).

For OT-1 antigen-specific CD8 cytotoxicity assays, the DELFIA kit was also used. C57BL/6 splenocytes were irradiated at 3000 rad leaving viable APCs. Five x  $10^6$  splenocytes were incubated with 1 µg/ml LPS in 24-well flat-bottom plates in a final volume of 2 ml for 3 days under normal conditions to activate the radio-resistant APCs. On day 3, the LPS-activated C57BL/6 APCs were pulsed with 5 µM SIINFEKL for 30 min under normal conditions and then washed twice with CM. OT-1 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were purified from whole spleen by negative selection using CD4<sup>+</sup> and MHC class II magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. 2.5 x  $10^6$  LPS-activated SIINFEKL-pulsed C57BL/6 APCs were incubated with 2.5 x  $10^6$  OT-1 T cells with or without 68 µM CA in a 24-well flatbottom plate in a final volume of 2 ml CM under normal conditions for 4 days. On day 4, cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) were harvested and plated with 10,000 target cells at a 50:1 effector to target ratio according to manufacturer's protocol. Two h later supernatants were harvested and fluorescence was measured by a time-resolved fluorometer. Again, data are presented in "percent specific release" as indicated above.

# 2.3.8 Flow cytometric analysis

Cells were washed in filter-sterilized FACS buffer (1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS)) and re-suspended in FACS buffer at the final concentration of  $10^7$  cells/ml. One million cells were stained with directly fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies at the appropriate dilution (10 µl of each antibody) in FACS buffer for 20 min in the dark at 4°C. Cells were washed in FACS buffer before measuring fluorescence on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences).

#### 2.3.9 Annexin V viability experiments

For annexin V viability experiments of whole spleen, 96-well MLRs were prepared as previously described and incubated for 1, 3, or 5 days. At each time point cells were harvested, washed twice in PBS, re-suspended in FACS buffer, and stained with PE-conjugated annexin V antibody (BD Biosciences) before fluorescence was measured as described above. For annexin V staining of the T cell population, assays were performed in the same manner with the addition of an APC-conjugated CD8 antibody (BD Biosciences) stain for all time points.

### 2.3.10 Intracellular ROS detection by CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA

 $2 \times 10^{6}$  OT-1 splenocytes were stimulated with 1  $\mu$ M SIINFEKL, or left un-stimulated, in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA in 24 well plates. After 24 hours, cells were harvested and loaded with 5 $\mu$ M FITC-conjugated CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA dye (Molecular Probes) for 30 minutes at 37°C. Some cells were not stained with the dye, and only incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C, as unstained FACS controls. All cells were then washed twice in CM and re-suspended at 10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml in FACS buffer. One million cells were stained with PECy5-conjugated CD8 antibody or left unstained to serve as appropriate controls according to previously mentioned methods. Results are presented as delta ( $\Delta$ ) percent CD8 x CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA double positive cells with respect to un-stimulated OT-1 controls.

#### 2.3.11 Trypan blue exclusion viability experiments

For trypan blue viability assays, 96-well MLRs were prepared as previously described and incubated for 1, 3, or 5 days. At each time point cells were harvested, washed twice, and resuspended in PBS. For each of the groups, a 10  $\mu$ l cell aliquot was diluted 1:10 in 100  $\mu$ l and added to 20  $\mu$ l of trypan blue. Cell samples were vortexed before a 10  $\mu$ l sample was pipetted into a hemocytometer under a light microscope. Live and dead cells were counted in at least two quadrants for each group at each time point. Results are reported as percent live cells per quadrant equivalent to number of live cells /total number of cells.

# 2.3.12 Intracellular staining and FACS analysis

Intracellular staining was measured in CA-treated and untreated cells in MLR and OT-1 assays on days 1, 2, 3 with the aid of the Murine BD intracellular cytokine staining kit (BD Biosciences). After stimulation, splenocytes were surface-stained with PECy5 or APC-conjugated CD8 and FITC-conjugated CD107a (LAMP-1) then fixed in BD Cytofix/Cytoperm buffer, washed in BD Perm/Wash buffer, and then stained intracellularly with APC-conjugated rat anti-IFN-γ, APC-conjugated rat-anti-perforin or PE-conjugated rat-anti-granzyme B (BD Biosciences). The appropriate isotype controls were used. Cells were washed twice in BD Perm/Wash buffer and re-suspended in FACS buffer; stained cells were analyzed on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences).

#### 2.3.13 Statistical analysis

The difference between mean values for each experimental group was determined by a Student's t test, with p < 0.05 for significance, using the JMP statistical discovery software from the SAS Institute. All experiments were performed at least three separate times with data obtained from triplicate wells in each experiment; the only exception being FACS analysis in which data are representative of at least three independent experiments.

#### 2.4 RESULTS

# 2.4.1 Redox modulation suppresses cell proliferation and the production of IL-2, IFN-γ, TNF-α, and IL-17 in a primary Mixed Leukocyte Reaction (MLR)

Based on our prior studies showing that redox modulation of the innate immune-derived pro-inflammatory third signal diminishes the expansion and effector function of antigen-specific CD4 T cells (26), we initiated studies to determine if redox modulation would also affect the response to alloantigen that is mediated by both, CD4 and CD8 T cells. We performed *in vitro* unidirectional MLRs by co-culturing  $10^6$  MHC-mismatched BALB/c (H-2d) responders with  $10^6$  C57BL/6 (H-2b) irradiated stimulators in the presence or absence of a predetermined concentration of CA (68  $\mu$ M) capable of suppressing production of innate immune-derived pro-inflammatory cytokines (48). Figure 10A demonstrates a significant three-fold decrease in proliferation with redox modulation by day 5 in an MLR assay. Along with reduced proliferation, redox modulation suppresses the production of IL-2 in MLR supernatants by two-

fold at the same time point (Figure 10B). Taken together redox modulation inhibits T cell proliferation and IL-2 production *in vitro*.



Fig. 10. Redox modulation suppresses cell proliferation and cytokine production in a primary MLR. In a primary MLR,  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocytes were stimulated with  $10^6$  irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\square$ ) of 68 µM CA for up to 5 days. On day 5 proliferation was assessed by [<sup>3</sup>H] TdR incorporation (*A*). On days 1-5 supernatants were harvested and IL-2 (*B*), IFN- $\gamma$  (*C*), and TNF- $\alpha$  (*D*) were measured by ELISA. Results are presented as the mean ( $\pm$  SEM) of four independent experiments performed in triplicate. \*\*, p < 0.05 between the respective treated and untreated (control) group.

To gain further insight into the T cell effector response to alloantigen, IFN- $\gamma$  production was analyzed in MLR supernatant in the presence or absence of redox modulation. We observed a statistically significant 6-fold decrease in IFN $\gamma$  levels in CA-treated MLR on Days 3, 4, and 5 compared to untreated MLR (Figure 10C). To determine if TNF- $\alpha$ , an upstream stimulus of IFN- $\gamma$  production, was also reduced in the presence of redox modulation (26, 82), TNF- $\alpha$  levels were measured by ELISA in untreated and CA-treated MLR supernatants. We observed significant decreases in TNF- $\alpha$  levels from CA-treated samples on days 2-5 (Figure 10D), concomitant with suppressed IFN- $\gamma$  levels with CA-treatment. In addition, we observed a significant 3-fold repression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-17, in CA-treated MLRs on Days 2, 3, 4, and 5 (Figure 10E). IL-17 is a cytokine of interest due to its documented role in allograft rejection and indispensable role in autoimmune diseases (83-89). In agreement with several studies (90-93), our data reflects the simultaneous presence of functional T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>17 T cells in response to an alloantigen.

# 2.4.2 Redox modulation impairs the ability of alloantigen-specific cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) to kill MHC-mismatched target cells

To determine if the redox-dependent decreases in IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 in response to alloantigen equates to an appreciable effect on CTL-induced target cell lysis, CTLs were generated by MLR in the presence or absence of redox modulation. BALB/c CTLs (H-2d) were harvested to determine the capacity of CA-treated and untreated CTLs to kill MHC-mismatched EL-4 (H-2b) target cells. At effector to target ratios of 100:1 and 50:1,

BALB/c CA-treated CTLs exhibited a 3-fold decrease in the ability to kill EL-4 target cells compared to control CTLs (Figure. 11).



Fig. 11. Redox modulation diminishes the ability of alloantigen-specific CTLs to kill their MHC-mismatched target cells in a cytotoxicity assay. Alloantigen-specific CTLs were derived by stimulating 2.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> BALB/c (H-2d) splenocytes with 2.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> irradiated C57BL/6 (H-2b) splenocytes in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\square$ ) of 68 µM CA. On day 5 CTLs were harvested and plated with fluorescently labeled EL-4 (H-2d) target cells at 100:1 and 50:1 effector to target ratios for 2 hours. After 2 hours supernatants were harvested, mixed with Europium reagent, and fluorescence was measured. Results are recorded in percent specific lysis as the mean ( $\pm$  SEM) of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. \*\*, p < 0.05 between the representative treated and untreated (control) group.

# 2.4.3 Redox modulation suppresses OT-1 CD8 T cell proliferation, IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 production in a primary antigen-recall assay

To determine if redox modulation of CD8 T cells could also affect CD8 T cell proliferation and adaptive immune effector function in the absence of CD4 T cell help, we utilized the CD8 T cell receptor transgenic OT-1 mouse model (79). OT-1 splenocytes were incubated with 1 µM SIINFEKL peptide in the presence or absence of CA. Redox modulation of primary OT-1 assays exhibited statistically significant decreases in proliferation on days 2 and 3, though a statistically significant decrease in IL-2 production was only achieved at day 3 (Figure 12A, B). This led us to speculate why redox modulation substantially inhibits proliferation whereas the effect on IL-2 production is not as drastic. For this reason we examined IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on the surface of OT-1 CD8 T cells in a primary antigen recall assay. We observed at least a three-fold decrease in CD25 expression on OT-1 T cells harvested from CA-treated OT-1 assays compared to untreated controls on days 2 and 3 (Figure 13), pointing to a possible mechanism by which a several fold decrease in proliferation, though only slight reduction in IL-2 production could occur. This phenomena, however, was not observed in the MLR model as the data demonstrated no significant difference in CD25 expression in the presence or absence of redox modulation (Figure 14A,B).

More importantly, IFN- $\gamma$  synthesis was suppressed by redox modulation in primary OT-1 assays compared to untreated assays at all time points (Figure 12C). Additionally, redox modulation of OT-1 CTLs was associated with significant inhibition of TNF- $\alpha$  levels on days 1 and 2 (Figure 12D), which may mechanistically contribute to decreased IFN- $\gamma$  production. Interestingly, we also observed significant decreases in IL-17 in the presence of redox modulation at all time points (Figure 12E), indicating that antigen-specific transgenic OT-1 CD8 T cells exhibit  $T_{H}1$  and  $T_{H}17$  phenotypes having documented the production of both, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17 (Figure 12E). Taken together, these results clearly demonstrate that redox modulation has an inhibitory effect on CD8 T cell proliferation and adaptive immune effector function in the absence of CD4 T cell help.



Fig. 12. Redox modulation suppresses proliferation and cytokine production in a primary OT-1 assay.  $5 \times 10^5 (A, D)$  or  $10^5 (B, C)$  OT-1 splenocytes were incubated with 1µM SIINFEKL in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68 µM CA for 1 to 3 days. On days 2 and 3 proliferation was assessed by [<sup>3</sup>H] TdR incorporation (A). On days 1, 2, and 3 supernatants were harvested and IL-2 (B), IFN- $\gamma$  (C), and TNF- $\alpha$  (D) were measured by ELISA. Results are presented as the mean ( $\pm$  SEM) of four independent experiments performed in triplicate. \*\*, p < 0.05 between the respective treated and untreated (control) group.



Fig. 13. Redox modulation inhibits IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on OT-1 Transgenic CD8 T cells. 10<sup>5</sup> OT-1 splenocytes were incubated with 1µM SIINFEKL in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68 µM CA for 1 to 3 days. On days 1, 2, and 3 cells were harvested, washed, and results are graphed correlating to surface staining of CD8 x IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25). Results are representative of three independent experiments shown in the Supplement to Fig. 13.



Fig. 14. Redox modulation has no effect on IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on BALB/c T cells. 10<sup>6</sup> BALB/c splenocytes were incubated with 10<sup>6</sup> irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68 µM CA for 3 to 5 days. On days 3, 4 and 5 cells were harvested, washed, and results are graphed correlating to surface staining of (A) CD4 x IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) or (B) CD8 x IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25). Results are representative of three independent experiments shown in the Supplement to Fig. 14.

# 2.4.4 Redox modulation impairs the ability of antigen-specific OT-1 cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) to kill their corresponding antigen-expressing target cells

Redox modulation, known to inhibit the innate immune-derived pro-inflammatory third signal, was efficient in suppressing adaptive immune effector cytokine synthesis in OT-1 primary assays, but whether redox modulation also decreased CTL activity remained to be determined. To explore this, OT-1 CTLs were generated in the presence or absence of CA and used as effectors against the OVA-expressing tumor cell line, EG.7 (H-2b), and the non-OVA-expressing parent cell line, EL-4 (H-2b). As expected, both CA-treated and untreated OT-1 CTLs failed to exhibit significant specific lysis of the non-OVA-expressing EL-4 targets at a 50:1 effector to target ratio (Figure 15). At the same effector to target ratio, CA-treated OVA-specific OT-1 CTLs exhibited a 3-fold decrease in specific lysis of the OVA-expressing EG.7 cells compared to untreated OT-1 CTLs (Figure 15). This cytotoxicity assay further demonstrates that redox modulation is having a profound effect on T cell receptor transgenic antigen-specific CD8 T cells by impairing their capacity to be direct effectors of antigen-specific target cell lysis.



Fig. 15. Redox modulation diminishes the ability of antigen-specific OT-1 CTLs to kill their corresponding antigen-expressing target cells in a cytotoxicity assay. OT-1 CTLs were generated by activating 5 x 10<sup>6</sup> C57BL/6 APCs with 1µg/ml LPS for three days, loading the APCs with 5 µM SIINFEKL for 30 minutes, washing several times, then plating the activated, loaded APCs with 2.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> OT-1 T cells in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68 µM CA for 4 days. On day 4 treated and untreated CTLs were harvested and plated with fluorescently labeled (non-expressing) EL-4 or (OVA-expressing) EG.7 target cells at 50:1 effector to target ratio for 2 hours. After 2 hours supernatants were harvested, mixed with Europium reagent, and fluorescence was measured. Results are recorded in percent specific lysis and are presented as the mean of three independent experiments performed in triplicate (± SD). \*\*, p < 0.05 between the representative treated and untreated (control) group.

#### 2.4.5 Cell toxicity is not a mechanism of immunoregulation by CA

To ensure that CA-treatment does not inhibit effector function by an apoptotic mechanism, we performed assays to compare the viability of untreated and CA-treated samples. Experiments were preformed in the MLR model on days 1, 3, and 5. Viability was assessed by trypan blue exclusion (Figure. 16A, C, E) and annexin V staining (Figure 16B, D, F). We observed a significant increase in cell viability in CA-treated samples by trypan blue exclusion on days 1 and 5 (Fig. 16A and E) and by annexin V staining on days 3 and 5 (Figure 16D, F). There was no significant difference in cell viability at other time points for either assay.

To specifically analyze CD8 T cell viability, we performed annexin V and CD8 double staining by FACS analysis. In these experiments we observed no significant difference in annexin V positive CD8 positive T cells in the presence or absence of CA, though a trend for increased cell viability, as indicated by increased percentages of live cells, was present in CA-treated samples compared to untreated control samples (Table 1). Day 5 was specifically chosen for our alloantigen-specific cytotoxicity experiments since this day is the optimal time point for the generation of CTL from a primary MLR assay. Taken together, the viability data indicate that redox modulation inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokine production and CTL target cell lysis, while promoting cell viability. These results further support our hypothesis that redox modulation imparts regulatory capabilities by preventing the transition from expansion to effector function in the absence of cell death.



Fig. 16. Redox modulation enhances cell viability. In a primary MLR,  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocytes were stimulated with  $10^6$  irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA for up to 5 days. On days 1, 3 and 5, viability was assessed by trypan blue exclusion (A, C, E) or annexin V staining (B, D, F). Results are presented as the mean (± SEM) of three independent experiments. \*\*, p < 0.05 between the respective treated and untreated (control) group.

% cells	double-negative	annexin V	CD8 single-	CD8/annexin V
	(live cells)	single-positive	positive	double-positive
BALB	32.35 +/- 9.69	62.25 +/- 10.25	4.70 +/- 0.70	0.75 +/- 0.07
BALB + CA	40.90 +/- 0.28	53.15 +/- 0.21	5.30 +/- 0.28	0.70 +/- 0.14
MLR	25.00 +/- 4.24	71.35 +/- 3.32	2.25 +/- 0.63	1.45 +/- 0.35
MLR + CA	25.90 +/- 4.67	69.15 +/- 5.87	3.30 +/- 0.85	1.60 +/- 0.28

Table 1. CD8 T cell viability is not significantly affected by redox modulation

CD8 T cell viability is increased in the presence of redox modulation. In a primary MLR,  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocytes were stimulated with  $10^6$  irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA for 5 days. On day 3 cells were harvested, washed and stained with CD8 and annexin V. Results are presented as a percentage of the cell population as the mean (± SD) of two independent experiments.

### 2.4.6 Induction of a regulatory population is not a mechanism of immunoregulation by CA

To determine if redox modulation induces a classic regulatory population we assessed intracellular expression of Foxp3 and IL-10 production. To analyze Foxp3 expression in T cell populations primary MLRs and OT-1 assays were performed. Cells were harvested from MLR assays on days 3, 4 and 5 and at 18, 42, and 66 hours for OT-1 assays and T cells were surfaced stained for CD4 or CD8 and CD25 and then stained for intracellular Foxp3. OT-1 T cells appear to show a trend for decreased Foxp3 expression in the presence of redox modulation, while CD4 and CD8 T cells in an MLR assay show a slight, but negligible, increase in Foxp3 on days 3 and 4 (Figure 17). On day 5, CD4 and CD8 T cells show a prominent decline in any Foxp3 population, regardless of CA-treatment. Perhaps this phenomenon is an indication that the regulatory mechanisms have been overcome by the robust response to alloantigen (7).



Fig. 17. Redox modulation does not induce Foxp3 expression. In primary MLRs,  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocytes were stimulated with  $10^6$  irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA for up to 5 days. MLR cells were harvested on days 3-5, surface-stained with CD4/CD8 and CD25, and then stained intracellularly with Foxp3. Results are representative of three independent experiments shown in the Supplement to Fig. 17.

To further examine the induction of any regulatory mechanisms in the presence of redox modulation IL-10 production was also analyzed in primary MLR and OT-1 assays. Supernatants were harvested from MLRs on days 1-5 and from OT-1 assays on days 1-3. In both assays, no significant difference was found between untreated and CA-treated wells, though there is a trend of decreasing IL-10 production on days 3-5 of the MLR and on day 3 in the OT-1 assay (Figure 18). IL-10 production could not be detected in wells receiving no stimulation by alloantigen or peptide for MLR and OT-1 assays, respectively (data not shown). These data demonstrate that redox modulation does not induce a regulatory T cell population or increased IL-10 production by any cell type.



Fig. 18. Redox modulation does not induce increased IL-10 production. In a primary MLR,  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocytes were stimulated with  $10^6$ irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\square$ ) of 68  $\mu$ M CA for up to 5 days. 10<sup>5</sup> OT-1 splenocytes were incubated with 1µM SIINFEKL in the presence  $(\square)$  or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68  $\mu$ M CA for up to 3 days. IL-10 production was measured by ELISA. Results are presented as the mean (± SEM) of independent three experiments performed in triplicate. \*\*, p < 0.05between the respective treated and untreated (control) group.

#### 2.4.7 Redox modulation hinders intracellular ROS production in CD8 T cells

We have previously shown that CA can inhibit ROS production in APCs (26), and now want to determine if CA can also hamper ROS production in CD8 T cells. T cell receptor transgenic OT-1 splenocytes were stimulated with cognate peptide in the presence or absence of redox modulation for 24 hours after which the cells were harvested and labeled with CD8 and CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA, an intracellular indicator of reactive oxygen species, for FACS analysis. The data demonstrate that CA inhibits ROS production as ROS could not be detected in OT-1 CD8 T cells stimulated with cognate peptide in the presence of redox modulation, while OT-1 CD8 T cells stimulated with cognate peptide in the absence of CA show almost a 7% increase in intracellular ROS production over the background (Figure 19).



Fig. 19. Redox modulation inhibits CD8 T cell ROS production.  $2 \times 10^6$  OT-1 splenocytes were stimulated with 1  $\mu$ M SIINFEKL or left unstimulated in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA in a primary OT-1 assay. After 24 hours cells were harvested, stained with CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA, washed, and then stained with CD8. Results are presented as delta ( $\Delta$ ) percent CD8 x CM-H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA double positive cells with respect to unstimulated OT-1 controls. Results are representative of three independent experiments.

2.4.8 Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN-γ, perforin, granzyme B and surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on alloantigen-specific CTLs and OVAspecific OT-1 CTLs

CTL effector molecules were measured to determine how redox modulation controls alloantigen-specific and OVA-specific CTLs from killing their respective targets. Specifically, we performed intracellular staining assays for IFN-γ, perforin, and granzyme B expression and assessed degranulation using the surface marker CD107a (LAMP-1), on allospecific and OT-1 T cell receptor transgenic CTLs generated in an MLR or in an OT-1 primary assay, respectively.

Analysis of intracellular IFN- $\gamma$  levels in MLR and OT-1 primary assays demonstrated at least a 5-fold decrease in expression of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in CA-treated samples versus untreated controls (Figures 20A and 21A). Perforin, granzyme B and CD107a (LAMP-1) expression was also notably inhibited by at least 5-fold on CA-treated CTLs versus untreated controls at all time points (Figures 20B-D and 21B-D). These results indicate that redox modulation restrains allospecific and T cell receptor transgenic CTL target cell lysis by decreasing CTL effector molecule synthesis including IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin, granzyme B, and the degranulation marker CD107a (LAMP-1), regardless of CD4 T cell help.



Fig. 20. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin, granzyme B, and surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on alloantigen specific CTLs. Alloantigen-specific CTLs were derived by stimulating 10<sup>6</sup> BALB/c splenocytes with 10<sup>6</sup> irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68  $\mu$ M CA for 1, 2, or 3 days. On days 1, 2, and 3 CTLs were harvested, washed, and results are graphed correlating to staining of surface CD8 x intracellular IFN- $\gamma$  (A), surface CD8 x intracellular perforin (B), surface CD8 x intracellular granzyme B (C), or surface CD8 x surface CD107a (LAMP-1) (D). Results are representative of three independent experiments shown in the Supplement to Fig. 20A-D.



Fig. 21. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin, granzyme B, and surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on OT-1 CTLs. OT-1 CTLs were derived by stimulating 10<sup>5</sup> OT-1 splenocytes with 1  $\mu$ M SIINFEKL in the presence ( $\blacksquare$ ) or absence ( $\Box$ ) of 68  $\mu$ M CA for 1, 2, or 3 days. On day 1, 2, and 3 OT-1 CTLs were harvested, washed, and results are graphed correlating to staining of surface CD8 x intracellular IFN- $\gamma$  (A), surface CD8 x intracellular perforin (B), surface CD8 x intracellular granzyme B (C), or surface CD8 x surface CD107a (LAMP-1) (D). Results are representative of three independent experiments shown in the Supplement to Fig. 21A-D.

#### 2.5 DISCUSSION

A potential consequence of hindering CD4 T cell activation is a downstream effect on CD8 T cell effector function (94-98), therefore we examined if redox modulation could impact CD8 T cell effector function, either in the presence or absence of CD4 T cell help. Our data demonstrate that redox modulation inhibits a response to alloantigen and a CD8 T cell receptor transgenic T cell response as exemplified by reduced proliferation, IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-17 production. More importantly, redox modulation significantly impaired antigen-specific CTL target cell lysis and the synthesis of cytolytic effector molecules, IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin and granzyme B, as well as the expression of the surface degranulation marker, CD107a (LAMP-1).

Using two robust *in vitro* experimental models, our data further support the pivotal role of redox status for generating a CD8 T cell effector response. Furthermore, the results using the purified CD8 T cells from the OT-1 T cell receptor transgenic mouse demonstrate the likelihood that CD8 T cells, themselves, are directly affected by redox modulation. The T cell precursor frequency involved in peptide recognition in an alloantigen mismatch is significantly elevated compared to that of nominal antigen recognition and the precursor frequency in a T cell receptor transgenic T cell population is elevated to an even higher degree over that of an allomismatch. Our experiments using CA to affect redox status were performed in the presence of increased precursor frequency in order to assess the efficacy of this type of regulation in two robust *in vitro* systems. Interestingly, CA-treatment of the OT-1 primary recall assay had a profound effect on T cell proliferation, though IL-2 levels were not significantly inhibited at all time points (Figure 12A and 12B). Correlating with our previously published studies using human islets (38), our viability assays demonstrate that CA-treatment does not induce apoptosis, but leads to an increase in viable cells over the duration of the culture period (Figure 16 and Table 1). In spite of the increased number of viable cells in CA-treated groups, pro-inflammatory cytokine production and cytotoxic lymphocyte (CTL) target cell lysis is hindered in the presence of CA (Figures 10, 11, 12, 15), indicating that CA is disrupting effector function in the absence of direct cell toxicity.

Examination of IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression in CA-treated OT-1 assays exhibited greater than a 2-fold decrease in CD25 expression on days 2 and 3 (Figure 13). The decrease in CD25 expression would impact the IL-2 autocrine loop resulting in a decrease in CD8 T cell proliferation. Evidence indicating that CD25 expression is NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent (99-101) taken together with our previous work in APCs, demonstrating that redox modulation inhibits NF- $\kappa$ B DNA-binding (48), leads us to speculate that this mechanism may be responsible for the decrease in proliferation in CA-treated OT-1 assays. We did not observe a significant difference in CD25 expression in CA-treated mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR) assays (Figure 14), however, a greater decrease in IL-2 production was observed (Figure 10B) compared to the CA-treated OT-1 assays (Figure 12B).

The inhibition of cytokine production (IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-17) indicates that regulation by redox modulation is capable of overcoming a higher precursor frequency as compared to a nominal antigen (Figures 10 and 12). Furthermore, this effect translated to a decrease in type 1 cytotoxic effector function, as demonstrated by a significant decrease in extracellular and intracellular IFN- $\gamma$  in MLR and OT-1 primary assays (Figures 10C, 12C, 20A, 21A). Impairing the production of IFN- $\gamma$  is critical in suppressing undesirable immune responses as IFN- $\gamma$  induces respiratory burst by macrophages, activates NF- $\kappa$ B, and induces MHC Class I expression (102). In agreement with our previous studies using CD4 T cells (26), redox modulation significantly decreased TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  production in allospecific and T cell receptor transgenic primary recall assay models (Figures 10C, 10D, 12C, 12D) and subsequently inhibited CTL antigen-specific target cell lysis (Figures 11 and 15). In response to alloantigen, it is likely that impaired CD4 T cell function by redox modulation abates the availability of CD4 T cell help that enhances CD8 effector function. Since CD8 T cells are highly dependent on CD4 T cell help for an optimal CTL effector response (77, 103, 104), antigen-specific CTL precursors are tolerized, instead of activated when CD4 T cell function is impaired (104).

In addition to a decrease in the  $T_{H1}$  cytokine response (Figures 10C, 10D, 12C, 12D) we found that redox modulation has a dramatic effect on the pro-inflammatory  $T_{H17}$  cytokine, IL-17. IL-17 has been implicated in a variety of autoimmune diseases and in allograft transplantation (83-85, 88, 89, 105, 106). With anti-IL-17 emerging as a potential therapeutic proven to ablate arthritis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, and allograft rejection in animal models (83, 87, 107-111), there is growing interest in further characterization of  $T_{H17}$  T cells in autoimmunity and allograft rejection. In this study we report a significant reduction in IL-17 production in response to alloantigen with CA-treatment (Figure 10E). Additionally, we have found that CD8 T cell receptor transgenic OT-1 T cells produce IL-17 in response to cognate peptide and that redox modulation can inhibit this production (Figure 12E).

Since our previous work revealed that redox modulation inhibits TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and ROS production in LPS-stimulated murine macrophages by inhibiting NF $\kappa$ B-DNA binding (48), it is

probable that redox modulation is limiting IL-17 production by impeding a pro-inflammatory feedback loop involving NF- $\kappa$ B, IL-17, and NO, in addition to hindering optimal synergistic T<sub>H</sub>17 activation by suppressing ROS, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  production (26, 48, 84, 112-114). In combination with the previously cited literature, our data suggest that inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B, and therefore, the innate-derived pro-inflammatory third signal (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , ROS) by redox modulation can efficiently hinder IL-17 production. Using two robust *in vitro* models, our work reveals that redox modulation of pro-inflammatory third signal synthesis can affect both CD4 and CD8 T cell effector function leading to a reduction in T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>17 pro-inflammatory cytokine synthesis and CTL effector molecules necessary for target cell lysis.

Furthermore, we observed several-fold decreases in target cell lysis and the expression of the cytolytic effectors, perforin and granzyme B, and in the expression of the surface degranulation marker, CD107a (LAMP-1) on CA-treated alloantigen-specific CTLs (Figure 20B-D). To further delineate how redox modulation affects CD8 T cells, we generated antigen-specific OT-1 CTLs. We isolated the effect of redox modulation on CD8 T cells one step further since C57BL/6 APCs were pre-activated with LPS and pulsed with SIINFEKL, separately, prior to incubation with naïve OT-1 CD8 T cells (CTL generation) and CA-treatment. In this experiment, the activated APCs were capable of producing pro-inflammatory third signal cytokines and to up-regulate co-stimulatory molecule expression for 3 days prior to CD8 interaction and CA-treatment. Addition of naïve OT-1 T cells and CA to the activated, SIINFEKL-pulsed APCs demonstrated that redox modulation was able to efficiently decrease CTL target cell lysis in the presence of pre-activated antigen-pulsed APCs (Figure 15). Additionally, redox modulation inhibited the expression of perforin, granzyme B, and CD107a (LAMP-1) in the presence of CA (Fig. 21B-D) quite possibly by inhibiting the NF-κB-dependent

expression of co-stimulatory molecules. By impairing NF- $\kappa$ B activation and subsequent production of pro-inflammatory third signal cytokines, it is likely that redox modulation reduces APC maturation/up-regulation of CD40, CD80 and CD86, resulting in suboptimal signal 2 interaction and ineffective activation of naïve T cells. This hypothesis is currently under investigation in our laboratory, though the possibility that redox modulation has a direct effect on the T cell cannot be overlooked.

The immunomodulatory capabilities of redox modulation on APC function have been described (48), however, a mechanistic analysis of the effect of redox modulation on T cells has not been fully characterized. We have initiated studies to investigate the possible T cell mechanisms altered by redox modulation and hypothesize that CA-treatment can directly affect CD4 and CD8 T cells by inhibiting NF-κB-DNA binding (48), or by impairing T cell receptor signaling and/or STAT pathway activation. Evidence that redox modulation may have an impact on T cell-specific signaling pathways was demonstrated when we observed decreased intracellular expression of IFN-γ in both CA-treated CTL models (Fig. 20A; Fig. 21A). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that IFN-γ production is required for optimal perforinmediated CTL effector function (115, 116), suggesting that redox modulation inhibits perforinmediated CTL target cell lysis, in part, by inhibiting IFN-γ production (Figures 10C, 12C, 20A, 21A).

Redox modulation of aberrant immune function is emerging as a viable immunotherapy since (a) oxidative stress contributes to allograft failure by triggering activation of the innate immune system (117), (b) redox modulation inhibits the pro-inflammatory innate immunederived third signal required for CD4 T cell adaptive immune maturation and effector function (48), (c) induces antigen-specific hypo-responsiveness (26), (d) suppresses CD8 T cell proliferation (CPM and IL-2), (e) inhibits the synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-17), and (f) impairs CTL target cell lysis by depressing CD8 CTL effector mechanisms (perforin, granzyme B, CD107a (LAMP-1)), and quite possibly, CTL generation. Agents such as CA, which affect immune function through redox modulation, may be alternative therapeutics to use in conjunction with decreased doses of late stage co-stimulatory blockade agents or calcineurin inhibitors to combat both innate and adaptive immune responses in transplantation.

# 3.0 CHAPTER 3: REDOX MODULATION PROTECTS ISLETS FROM TRANSPLANT-RELATED INJURY

#### **3.1 ABSTRACT**

Due to reduced antioxidant defenses, β-cells are especially vulnerable to free radical and inflammatory damage. Commonly used anti-rejection drugs are excellent at inhibiting the adaptive immune response, however, most are harmful to islets and do not protect well from reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inflammation resulting from islet isolation and ischemiareperfusion injury. The aim of this study is to determine if redox modulation, using the catalytic antioxidant (CA), FBC-007, can improve in vivo islet function post-transplant. The abilities of redox modulation to preserve islet function were analyzed using three models of ischemiareperfusion injury: 1) streptozotocin (STZ) treatment of human islets, 2) a STZ-induced murine model of diabetes, 3) a murine model of syngeneic islet transplantation; and one murine model of MHC-mismatched allogeneic transplantation. CA-treatment of human islets protects from STZinduced islet damage and systemic delivery of CA ablates STZ-induced diabetes in mice. Islets incubated with CA prior to syngeneic transplant exhibited superior function in an intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) compared to untreated controls. Allograft rejection was significantly delayed when CA-treated islets were transplanted into MHC-mismatched murine diabetic recipients and treating recipients systemically with CA further extended the delay in

allograft rejection. Pre-treating donor islets with CA protects from antigen-independent ischemia-reperfusion injury incurred during transplantation. Treating systemically with CA protects islets from antigen-independent ischemia-reperfusion injury and impairs the antigen-dependent alloimmune response. These results suggest that the addition of a redox modulation strategy would be a beneficial clinical approach to preserve islet function in transplantation.

#### **3.2 INTRODUCTION**

Hypoxia is the leading cause of  $\beta$ -cell death during islet isolation and transplantation (40) with the highest percentage of islet graft loss and dysfunction occurring just days after transplantation (118, 119). Because islets are a cellular transplant, devoid of intrinsic vasculature (40, 120), they are exceptionally susceptible to ischemia-reperfusion injury. Islets are also increasingly vulnerable since they have inherently decreased antioxidant capacity (17-22), making them prone to oxidative/nitrosative/free radical damage. The antigen-independent complexities of islet transplantation increase the incidence of primary graft non-function and  $\beta$ -cell death thus requiring protection for islets at early stages of the transplant procedure (121).

In addition to antigen-independent innate-mediated inflammatory injury, islet allografts are also plagued by the antigen-dependent T-cell mediated alloimmune response, which necessitates immunosuppressive drugs for allograft survival. Commonly used anti-rejection drugs are excellent at inhibiting the antigen-dependent adaptive immune response, though most are harmful to islets and do not protect well from antigen-independent reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inflammation during islet isolation and ischemia-reperfusion injury (15, 23, 122). In their review, Balamurugan, et. al. concluded that successful islet transplantation in type 1
diabetes (T1D) necessitates islet-sparing immunosuppressive agents that combat recurrent autoimmunity with low islet toxicity (15). Predominantly, the field of islet transplantation is devoid of cytoprotective agents that promote islet survival and function by inhibiting nonspecific innate-mediated inflammation during islet isolation and early inflammatory events in islet transplantation (7, 15, 16, 38, 39, 44, 121).

The first phase of immunity involves innate immune activation and subsequent proinflammatory signals required for optimal T cell activation (26-28), yet the majority of immunosuppressive drugs only target adaptive immune function (1, 7), the second phase of immunity. A nontoxic, cell-permeable catalytic antioxidant (CA) redox modulator, FBC-007 (manganese (II) tetrakis (N-ethylpyridium-2-yl) porphyrin) is able to depress free radical and cytokine production by antigen presenting cells (APC) (48) and T cells in transgenic and allospecific mouse models (26, 123). Additionally redox modulation inhibits CTL (cytotoxic lymphocyte) target cell lysis by reducing the production of intracellular cytolytic molecules (perforin and granzyme B) in a mixed leukocyte reaction without toxicity (123), preserves and promotes human islet function *in vitro* (38, 39), prevents the transfer of diabetes into young NOD.*scid* mice (49), and inhibits innate-immune NF- $\kappa$ B activation (48). Thus, islet-sparing agents, which decrease the production of free radicals, and therefore, pro-inflammatory cytokines, may have a positive impact on islet function post-transplant.

Since islet transplantation can benefit from agents that inhibit early inflammatory cascades to preserve islet function (44), we hypothesize that redox modulation holds potential as a therapy in islet transplantation to decrease the incidence of  $\beta$ -cell primary non-function. In order to further test the effects of redox modulation we treated human islets with STZ *in vitro* and treated mice *in vivo* with STZ, both in the presence or absence of CA, to mimic the antigen-

56

independent free radical and inflammatory damage of post-transplant ischemia-reperfusion injury. To examine the effects of islet-directed CA-treatment on innate-mediated (antigenindependent) primary islet non-function *in vivo*, we performed syngeneic (175 islets/recipient) islet transplants in diabetic mice and assessed islet function by fasting intraperitoneal glucose tolerance tests (IPGTT). Lastly, we performed allogeneic (300 islets/recipient) islet transplants in diabetic recipients to assess islet function in the presence or absence of islet-directed or systemic redox modulation in the presence of both, innate (antigen-independent) and adaptive (antigen-dependent), immune responses. Our results demonstrate that islet-directed and systemically delivered redox modulation are protective of islet function post-transplant.

#### **3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.3.1 Human islets

Human pancreata were obtained from CORE (Center for Organ Recovery and Education, Pittsburgh, PA) and were harvested using standard multi-organ recovery techniques and islets were isolated as previously described (38).

#### **3.3.2 Human islet experiments**

Islet preparations were cultured in flasks at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humidified air in human islet medium containing CMRL-1066 (Gibco-BRL) medium supplemented with 10% FCS, 100 units/ml penicillin, 0.1 mg/ml streptomycin, and 2 mM L-

glutamine (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). The islets were cultured for 3 days and handpicked on the 4<sup>th</sup> day using a dissecting microscope. Groups of 60 hand-picked islets were randomly assigned to control and experimental groups. Each group was sub-cultured in 60 x 15mm Falcon dishes at a concentration of 12 islets/ml for 8 hours in the previously described islet media. The CA group was treated with 68  $\mu$ M CA and the STZ group was treated with 11 mM STZ while the control group was cultured in islet media alone. The group treated with CA and STZ was treated with 68  $\mu$ M CA 20 minutes prior to the addition of 11 mM STZ.

#### 3.3.3 Human islet viability assays

Islet viability was determined by simultaneous staining of live and dead cells using a twocolor fluorescence assay (acridine orange (green=live) and ethidium bromide (red=dead), Sigma, St. Louis, MO). After the 8-hour incubation, islets from each group were transferred into separate microcentrifuge tubes, washed with PBS, and spun at 2000 rpm for 2 minutes. Supernatants were carefully aspirated, leaving ~ 25  $\mu$ l to allow re-suspension of the cell pellets. Next 1.3  $\mu$ l of dye mix (100  $\mu$ g/ml acridine orange + 100  $\mu$ g/ml ethidium bromide in PBS) was added to each tube to stain all islet cell nuclei. The tube was mixed gently, 25  $\mu$ l of the cell suspension was transferred to a microscope slide, and a cover slip was placed on top of the suspension. Cells were visualized at 10x magnification using a fluorescence microscope with an excitation of 450-490nm. At least 3 fields from each group were analyzed by ImageJ (NIH, Bethesda, MD) software. The percentage of viable and dead cells was determined by linearly converting ImageJ arbitrary units into percentages.

#### 3.3.4 Mice

Male 6-8 week old C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME). C57BL/6-Ins2<sup>akita/+</sup> breeder pairs (female C57BL/6 + male C57BL/6-Ins2<sup>akita/+</sup>) were also purchased from Jackson Laboratories, but bred in-house at the Rangos Research Center (Pittsburgh, PA). Male C57BL/6-Ins2akita/+ mice develop spontaneous diabetes by 4 weeks of age and do not require exogenous insulin or fluids/electrolytes to thrive. This strain is well-suited for transplantation studies because they become spontaneously diabetic, ease of care, and ability to be rendered indefinitely euglycemic via syngeneic islet transplants (300 C57BL/6 islets), yet reject islet transplants from MHC-mismatched donors (300 BALB/c islets) (124).

#### 3.3.5 Systemic treatment with CA to inhibit STZ-induced diabetes

C57BL/6 male mice were injected IP with 10 mg/kg CA for 7 days. On day 2 all mice were given an intravenous (IV) injection of 170 mg/kg STZ. Blood glucose was measured every other day. Two consecutive blood glucose readings over 300 mg/dl were indicative of STZ-induced diabetes. Diabetic animals were sacrificed following the second consecutive reading.

#### 3.3.6 Syngeneic transplants

8-12 week old C57BL/6 males were used as donors and recipients. Recipients were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with 240 mg/kg STZ (Sigma) on day 1. Animals were tested for

diabetes using urine-test strips (Bayer) on day 3. All diabetic animals received 1 unit of insulin (Lantus) and 500  $\mu$ l Ringers solution on days 3-5. On day 5, islets were isolated from naive donor C57BL/6 mice as described in (125). The same day, islets were simultaneously picked, counted, and redistributed into petri dishes containing 175 islets each. Each dish of islets contained islet media (10% heat-inactivated FBS, 2% Hepes [1M], 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin [10,000 mg/ml], 1 % L-glutamine [200mM], and 0.1% 2- $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol [50mM] in RPMI sterile-filtered) alone or islet media plus 68  $\mu$ M CA. Treated and control islets were tested in recipient mice on day 6 by obtaining a small blood sample from the retro-orbital sinus. Only animals with blood glucose 400 mg/dl and above were used as recipients in this study. On day 6, each recipient was transplanted with 175 syngeneic CA-treated or untreated control islets inserted under the kidney capsule as described in (125). Blood glucose was tested every other day. All mice normalized post-transplant.

On post-operative day 9 and 70, transplant recipients were subject to a fasting intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT). Food was removed from the recipients' cages 18 hours prior to IPGTT with water available ad lib. Mice were weighed and a baseline (zero minute) blood glucose was taken immediately before each recipient was injected with a 10  $\mu$ l/g body weight dose of sterile-filtered 20% glucose solution in dH<sub>2</sub>0. Blood glucose readings were taken at 30, 60, 90, and 120 minutes post glucose injection. Nephrectomies were performed on Day 77 as described in (126).

#### 3.3.7 Islet-directed CA-treatment to delay allograft rejection

Male C57BL/6 mice were used as transplant recipients and male BALB/c mice were used as islet donors. C57BL/6 mice were rendered diabetic with an intraperitoneal (IP) injection of 240 mg/kg STZ. Recipients were prepared for transplant as previously described and islets were incubated in islet media alone or in islet media with 68 µM CA for 24 hours. Three hundred CA-treated or control-treated BALB/c islets were transplanted under the kidney capsule of diabetic C57BL/6 recipients as previously mentioned. All diabetic recipients became euglycemic post-transplant. Blood glucose was checked every other day. Two consecutive blood glucose readings over 400 mg/dl were indicative of allograft rejection. Diabetic animals were sacrificed following the second consecutive reading.

## 3.3.8 Systemic delivery of CA in pellet form to delay allograft rejection

Male C57BL/6-Ins2<sup>akita/+</sup> mice were used as transplant recipients and male BALB/c mice were used as islet donors. This work is based on (124) and the transplants were performed as previously mentioned, transplanting 300 BALB/c islets into each spontaneously diabetic C57BL/6-Ins<sup>2akita/+</sup> recipient on day 0. Three days before transplant, a placebo or 21-day CA pellet (0.1 mg/day or 5 mg/kg/day) (Innovative Research of America, Sarasota, FL) was inserted into each recipient. An additional pellet was inserted into mice on post-operative day 16, as pellets were administered every 20 days. All diabetic recipients became euglycemic post-transplant. Blood glucose was checked every other day. Two consecutive blood glucose

readings over 400 mg/dl were indicative of allograft rejection. Diabetic animals were sacrificed following the second consecutive reading.

### 3.3.9 Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of islet-bearing kidneys

Mouse kidney samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 3hrs then transferred to 30% sucrose. After imbedded in frozen section medium (Richard-Allan Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI.), cryosections (10µm) were cut using a cryostat (Microm HM550, Germen) and mounted onto gelatin coated or pre-cleaned slides. Hematoxylin and eosin staining was performed on pre-cleaned slides using a Frozen Section Staining kit (Thermo Electron Corporation, Pittsburgh, PA). Images were captured at 40x magnification using a Nikon confocal microscope (Nikon D-ECLIPSE C1, Japan).

#### 3.3.10 Statistical analysis

Mean data are expressed as standard error of the mean (SEM). The difference between mean values was determined by a Student t test and the area under the curve was determined using the trapezoidal rule. Kaplan-Meier survival plots were analyzed by the Log-rank test. All statistical analysis was performed with the aid of PRISM (Graphpad, San Diego, CA) and JMP statistical software from the SAS institute using p<0.05 to achieve significance.

#### **3.4 RESULTS**

#### 3.4.1 CA protects human islets from STZ-induced cell death

Using STZ to mimic free radical damage and inflammation in ischemia-reperfusion injury human islets isolated from donor pancreata were divided into 4 groups and were cultured in 1) media alone (untreated), 2) CA, 3) STZ, or 4) CA+ STZ. After an 8-hour incubation, a double-fluorescence viability assay was performed using acridine orange, which penetrates the plasma membrane of living cells and stains their nuclei green, and ethidium bromide, which only penetrates dead cells, in which membrane integrity is compromised, to stain their nuclei red. Panels in Figure 22A are representative fluorescent images from each treatment group with correlating to data analysis graphed in Figure 22B and exact percentages and significance listed below the graph. We observed a significant increase in live cells with CA treatment (74.99 +/-8.59%) compared to untreated control islets (41.64 +/- 3.38%) and a substantial decrease in viability was recorded when islets were treated with STZ (20.02 + - 0.65%). As we hypothesized, islets treated with STZ in the presence of CA were comparatively more viable (63.24 +/- 5.99%), demonstrating a significant increase in cell viability versus islets treated with STZ alone (Figure 22B). These data indicate that the addition of CA increases viability of human islets when used in the media alone, and even more significantly, when islets are treated with CA using STZ-treatment as a model of free-radical induced cell death.



B

% LIVE CELLS	<b>P-VALUE</b>
UNTREATED (41.64 ± 3.38) vs. CA (74.99 ± 8.59)	.0229
STZ (20.05 ± 0.65) vs. UNTREATED (41.64 ± 3.38)	.0103
STZ (20.05 ± 0.65) vs. CA STZ (63.24 ± 5.99)	.0089

Fig. 22. CA protects human islets from STZ-induced cell-death. Human islets (60 islets/group) were cultured in media alone, 68  $\mu$ M CA, 11 mM STZ, or 68  $\mu$ M CA + 11 mM STZ. A: Representative images of each group of islets after an 8-hour incubation, stained with acridine orange (green/live) and ethidium bromide (red/dead), then visualized under a fluorescence microscope at 10x magnification. B: The percentage of live and dead islet cells from A was assessed by Imagej software and the data is summarized in the table below B. Open bars = live cells (n  $\geq$  3) and black bars = dead cells (n  $\geq$  3). Data are presented as means (+/- SEM). Significance was tested using Student t tests (\*p<0.05).

#### 3.4.2 Systemic treatment with CA inhibits streptozotocin-induced diabetes

Streptozotocin (STZ) induces diabetes through a nitric oxide free radical mechanism resulting in DNA damage and islet cell death (127). Since CA can inhibit free radical damage (26, 48, 123, 128) we wanted to determine if systemic CA-treatment could protect islets from STZ-induced islet cell death *in vivo*. Five C57BL/6 mice were injected with 10 mg/kg CA daily for 7 days and 10 C57BL/6 mice were used as untreated controls. On day 2 all mice were injected with STZ. As shown in Figure 23, 90% of untreated mice (9/10) succumbed to STZ-induced islet cell death and subsequent diabetes (2.3 +/- .6 days) while none of the CA-treated mice (n=5) developed diabetes (>120 days) (Log-rank p=0.005). These results demonstrate that systemic treatment with CA protects islets from free radical damage to prevent STZ-induced diabetes.



**Fig. 23. Systemic CA-treatment inhibits STZ-induced diabetes.** Mice received CA-treatment on days 1-7 and STZ was given on day 2. Black squares = untreated (n=9); Black triangles = CA-treated (n=5). Significance was tested using the Log-rank test

(p=.0005).

## **3.4.3** Islets incubated with CA prior to syngeneic transplant exhibit increased function by intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT)

Based on previously published data demonstrating improved islet mass, viability, and function when human islets are treated with CA during isolation or in culture (38, 39), we wanted to determine if islet-directed CA can improve graft function in a syngeneic transplant model. Diabetic C57BL/6 recipients were transplanted with 175 syngeneic islets, which were previously incubated in the presence (n=5) or absence (n=5) of 68  $\mu$ M CA for 24 hours. All animals were rendered euglycemic post-transplant and sustained long-term euglycemia. Post-nephrectomy all transplant recipients reverted to diabetes (data not shown). Fasting IPGTTs were performed on post-operative day 9 and day 70.

Recipients of CA-treated islets demonstrated significantly improved glycemic-control at 30 and 60-minute time points compared to untreated controls (Figure 24A), which correlates to a significant decrease in the area under the curve for recipients of CA-treated islets (Figure 24B). Specifically, the area under the curve for recipients of CA-treated islets was less than half (4,561.4 +/- 1054.2 min\*mg/dl) of the area under the curve for recipients of untreated islets (10,828.8 +/- 1,336.1 min\*mg/dl). To observe any long-lasting affect of the CA-incubation on islet function, mice from each group were monitored long-term and another IPGTT was performed on day 70. Although the 70-day IPGTT did not show statistical significance, the trend of improved glycemic control in recipients of CA-treated islets, namely at 30 and 60 minutes, was maintained (Figure 24C). These results are evidence that islet-directed CA-treatment is able to suppress antigen-independent ischemia-reperfusion injury as demonstrated by improved islet graft function.



В

p=.0034	Area Under Curve
Media alone	10,828.8 +/- 1,336.1
CA-treated	4,561.4 +/- 1,054.2



Fig. 24. Pre-treating islets with CA prior to syngeneic transplant improves islet function. Islets were incubated  $\pm$  CA for 24 hrs then 175 untreated or CA-treated islets were transplanted into syngeneic recipients. A: Fasting IPGTTs were performed on post-operative day 9. Black squares/black line = untreated islets (n=5). Black triangles/red line = CA-treated islets (n=5). B: Area under the curve calculation for (A). C: Fasting IPGTT performed on post-operative day 70. Black squares/black line = untreated islets (n=3). Black triangles/red line = CA-treated islets (n=3). Significance was tested for A, B, and C using Student t tests (\*p<0.05).

## 3.4.4 Islet-directed CA-treatment delays allograft rejection in an MHC-mismatched islet transplant model

Next, we tested the ability of islet-directed redox modulation to improve islet allograft survival. Since islet-directed CA-treatment can preserve islet function during antigen-independent ischemia-reperfusion injury in a syngeneic transplant model (Figure 24) and in human islet isolation (38, 39), we wanted to determine if islet-directed redox modulation using CA could reduce normalization blood glucose or delay antigen-dependent allograft rejection. These experiments were performed using BALB/c (H-2d) donor islets incubated in the presence or absence of 68  $\mu$ M CA for 24 hours. After the 24 hour incubation 300 CA-treated or untreated islets were transplanted into diabetic C57BL/6 (H-2b) recipients.

Post-transplant, CA-treated islets normalized recipients (n=5) to significantly lower blood glucose levels (73 +/- 2.61 mg/dl) compared to recipients (n=5) of control treated islets (118.2 +/- 8.35 mg/dl) (Figure 25A), indicative of an increase in early islet graft survival (p< 0.0001). Though all allograft recipients were eugylcemic for over 2 weeks, the recipients of CA-treated islets retained euglycemia, and thus, a functioning allograft, significantly (Log-rank, p=.0246) longer (26 +/- 0 days) than the recipients of untreated islets (22.3 +/- 2.5 days) (Figure 25B). Taken together, these data indicate that cytoprotection of islets using islet-directed CA-treatment alone can delay allograft rejection.



Fig. 25 Pre-treating islets with CA prior to allogeneic transplant improves islet function. Islets were incubated  $\pm$  CA for 24 hrs then 300 untreated or CA-treated islets were transplanted into diabetic allogeneic recipients. A: Normalization blood glucose of recipients within 2 post-operative days; n of 5/group. Significance was tested using a Student t test (\*p<0.05). B: Allograft survival of recipients; n of 3/group. Significance was tested using a Log-rank test (p=.0246). Black = recipients of untreated islets. Red = recipients of CA-treated islets.

## 3.4.5 Systemic delivery of CA prolongs allograft function in an MHC-mismatched islet transplant model

To determine if systemic administration of CA would equate to a more substantial delay in allograft rejection we transplanted 300 BALB/c islets into spontaneously diabetic C57BL/6-Ins2<sup>Akita/+</sup> mice (124). In our colony, 7-8 week old diabetic C57BL/6-Ins2<sup>Akita/+</sup> males have a blood glucose level of 580 +/- 19 mg/dl, which is comparable to the average blood glucose level (544 +/- 11 mg/dl) for the same mice housed at the Jackson Laboratory (Maine). Three days before transplant a CA (21-day, 5 mg/kg/day) or placebo pellet was inserted into diabetic recipients. All 10 recipient mice normalized post-transplant (125 +/- 16.94 mg/dl). CA-treated recipients (n=5) displayed a significant increase (Log-rank, p=.0023) in graft function (25.60 +/-2.86 days) compared to untreated recipients (n=5) (14.40 +/- 0.25 days) (Figure 26A). H&E sections of islet-bearing kidneys post-rejection demonstrate a pronounced infiltrate in untreated recipients and a sparse infiltrate in CA-treated recipients (Figure 26B), suggesting the delay in graft rejection with CA-treatment is associated with decreased migration of immune cells to the site of the graft. These results demonstrate that systemic delivery of CA can delay graft rejection by depressing the cytotoxic free radical and inflammatory damage generated by the innate (antigen-independent) immune response and possibly by impacting the T-cell-mediated adaptive (antigen-dependent) immune response (26, 123) to hinder allograft rejection.







**Fig. 26. Systemic CA-treatment delays allograft rejection.** On day 0 diabetic recipients were treated with a placebo or CA-pellet. 300 allogeneic islets were transplanted into all recipients on day 3. A: Allograft survival of recipients. Black = placebo pellet (n=5). Red = CA pellet (n=5). Rejection table below A. Significance was tested using a Log-rank test (p=.0023). B: Post-rejection H&E staining of representative sections of islet-bearing kidneys from untreated and CA-treated recipients.

## **3.5 DISCUSSION**

Allograft acceptance can be achieved using immunosuppressive drugs, though most drugs that inhibit T-cell-mediated graft destruction have the unfortunate side effect of islet toxicity and do not significantly protect islets from ischemia-reperfusion insults (15, 23, 122) leading to primary non-function and  $\beta$ -cell death. Current literature in islet transplantation expresses a need for improved therapeutics that control rejection while preserving islet function through cytoprotection (7, 15, 38, 39, 44, 121, 129, 130). Since redox modulation affects the innate and the adaptive immune responses (26, 48, 123) and demonstrates cytoprotection during human islet isolation (38, 39), we hypothesized that it may be a useful approach in islet transplantation. Because only a fraction of transplanted islets survive ischemia-reperfusion injury (38, 39, 119), our current study utilized the well-described redox-modulator, CA, to determine if islet graft survival and function could be improved by inhibiting free radical and inflammatory damage.

In this study CA protects islets from STZ-induced free radical damage, antigenindependent inflammatory ischemic damage during syngeneic transplantation, and delays rejection in allogeneic transplantation. Specifically, we used STZ-induced diabetes as a model of islet cell death and found that systemic delivery of CA protected all mice from STZ-induced diabetes (Figure 23) likely by increasing antioxidant defenses in islets to render them more resistant to STZ-induced free radical damage. To isolate antigen-independent ischemiareperfusion injury in a transplant setting, we used a syngeneic transplant model to analyze the effects of pre-treating islets with CA. Data from the IPGTTs indicate that islet-directed CA protects islet function during antigen-independent inflammatory injury (Figure 24A-C).

Antigen-independent injury by the innate immune system plays a larger role in allograft rejection than previously thought correlating to the activation state of the powerful redoxdependent transcription factor, NF- $\kappa$ B. NF- $\kappa$ B shapes the innate and adaptive immune responses (29, 41, 42, 60, 63, 65) by controlling a myriad of pro-inflammatory and pro-apoptotic genes in multiple cell types, including  $\beta$ -cells (131-133). Our previously published work indicates that redox modulation using CA can hinder apoptotic and necrotic pathways by inhibiting NF-KB-DNA binding, PARP activation, and the production of chemokines and cytokines in human islets (39). In this study we expanded our previous work with human islets (38, 39) using STZtreatment in the presence or absence of redox modulation to mimic islet cell damage incurred during ischemia-reperfusion injury. Our data demonstrates that redox modulation is protective in a robust setting of ischemia-reperfusion injury (Figure 22), likely by hindering the previously mentioned apoptotic and necrotic pathways. Other studies have also sighted NF-KB in islet death, demonstrating that manipulating components of the NF-kB pathway can hinder its activation, and imminent inflammatory damage, to protect islets from apoptosis in autoimmunity and islet transplantation (133-135). Since redox modulation using CA can enter mitochondria in vivo to impart antioxidant protection (128), preservation of mitochondrial function, and therefore ATP, is a potential mechanism by which CA protects from  $\beta$ -cell death (123). Simultaneous use of systemically delivered redox modulation to treat the recipient (Figures 23 and 26) and isletdirected CA to treat the donor islets (Figures 22 and 24) would limit  $\beta$ -cell exposure to cytokine and NO damage, thus hindering the hypoxic and inflammatory onslaught endured by islets during isolation and ischemia-reperfusion injury post-transplantation.

Moreover, Contreras et. al. notes that increasing islet yield post-isolation is paramount in order to propel the success of clinical islet transplantation, as the Edmonton protocol requires 1 to 3 pancreata per recipient (14). Currently, the demand for islets far outweighs the supply (14), especially since more than one islet infusion is frequently required to eliminate the need for exogenous insulin (12). Since CA-treatment increased islet viability in human (*in vitro*) (Figure 1) (38, 39) and murine (*in vivo*) (Figures 23-25) models of ischemia-reperfusion injury, CA-treatment may allow a reduced number of islets (islet equivalents) needed to normalize a recipient. The ability to decrease the number of human pancreata/islet infusions required to achieve long-term insulin-independence would overcome a major hurdle in islet transplantation (12, 14, 25). Additionally, it has been reported that rodent islets suffer from decreased protection from oxidative stress compared to human islets (136). This evidence suggests that our favorable results using redox modulation in murine models of transplantation may translate successfully to clinical transplantation.

In addition to reducing primary islet non-function (Figure 24), islet-directed CAtreatment also demonstrated a protective effect in antigen-dependent allogeneic islet transplantation (Figure 25). Comparatively, systemic delivery of CA (Figure 26) extends allograft rejection beyond islet-directed CA-treatment to support islet engraftment, viability, and function because CA can also act as an immunomodulatory agent by inhibiting APC activation (48), CD4 (26) and CD8 T cell effector function (123) and CTL target cell lysis by decreasing cytolytic effector molecule production in transgenic and alloreactive models (123). However, in this study, we are not certain if the delay in allograft rejection is due to increased cytoprotection and preservation of islets by CA during ischemia-reperfusion injury (Figures 24 and 25) or as a result of immune-modulation correlating to decreased activation of the alloimmune-response. Both scenarios resulting in a subsequent decrease in migration of immune cells to the sight of the graft in CA-treated recipients (Figure 26) and most likely, the delay in allograft rejection is a combination of the two.

CA is known to promote islet (38, 39) and cell survival while inhibiting effector function (26, 123), however, studies examining the effects of redox modulation on  $\beta$ -cell proliferation and genes that regulate proliferation are yet to be performed. Because CA inhibits primary immunogenic proliferation (26, 123) and sustains disruption of effector function, but does not significantly inhibit secondary expansion (26), redox modulation could be of benefit when coupled to non-calcineurin or mTOR targeted anti-proliferative drugs, like mycophenolate mofetil (MMF). Additionally, if islets are treated with CA prior to transplant, they may be afforded increased protection from toxic immunosuppressives currently used in transplant protocols thereby increasing transplant success by limiting graft loss. Redox modulation may also allow for the dose and duration of immunosuppressants to be weaned over a transplant recipient's lifetime since CA protects from the inflammatory damage associated with islet isolation and transplantation. Taken together, redox modulation is a favorable therapeutic to add to the currently administered immunosuppressives since CA is a nontoxic, non-immunogenic small molecule compound that offers the flexibility of systemic and/or tissue-specific treatment, ease of application, and a history of reproducible outcomes (26, 38, 39, 48, 49, 123, 128). The reported benefits of CA-treatment for islets, autoimmunity and alloimmunity suggest redox modulation as a clinical approach, especially for diabetic recipients of islet allografts.

## 4.0 CHAPTER 4: AN ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC NEGATIVE VACCINATION USING APOPTOTIC DONOR CELLS ADMINISTERED IN A NON-INFLAMMATORY ADJUAVANT INDUCES LONG-TERM ALLOGRAFT TOLERANCE

#### 4.1 ABSTRACT

The many complications involved in islet transplantation yield poor outcomes limiting the procedure to adults with a history of extreme glucose dysregulation. The main impediments restraining islet transplant success include islet primary non-function and repercussions on islet and recipient health resulting from nonspecific immunosuppression. In this study we examined two methods to delay/prevent allograft rejection with the goal of reducing the previously mentioned pitfalls of islet transplantation. Redox modulation, using a well-characterized small molecule catalytic antioxidant (CA), FBC-007, is the first approach we used. CA improves islet function and viability, suppresses innate and adaptive immune activation, and is capable of achieving antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness. We determined that this strategy is not harshly immunosuppressive and decreases activation and migration of immune cells to the site of the islet allograft thus delaying allograft rejection. The second strategy is a negative vaccination. We administered apoptotic donor splenocytes in a non-inflammatory adjuvant prior to islet transplantation to induce donor-specific tolerance. This method proved even more successful than systemic CA-treatment as the negative vaccination tolerized recipients to allogeneic donor islets. These results demonstrate viable therapeutic approaches using islet-sparing and antigen-specific strategies to delay/prevent allograft rejection in an effort to minimize difficulties with islet transplantation.

### 4.2 INTRODUCTION

Currently, islet transplantation is limited to brittle diabetics (11) due to complications from harsh immunosuppressive therapy and a lack of long-term glycemic control post-transplant (12). Though immunosuppressive drugs are efficient at inhibiting the T-cell mediated destruction of the donor islet graft, they are not cytoprotective, are associated with islet toxicity, and very rarely protect from nonspecific inflammation due to ischemia reperfusion injury (15, 23, 122). The current nonspecific regimen of immunosuppression can lead to complications including infection and malignancy requiring the recipient to stop immunosuppressants, upon which the recipients succumb to allograft rejection (13). The outlook of islet transplantation in its present form is grim. Only 5/36 subjects remained insulin-independent 2 years posttransplant as reported in a trial of the Edmonton islet transplantation protocol (13). In agreement with the literature, solutions to hurdles in islet transplantation can be found in therapies that are islet-sparing and/or antigen-specific to improve post-transplant outcomes (7, 15, 38, 39).

77

In this study we analyzed the capabilities of two novel approaches in islet transplantation. The first approach focuses on cytoprotection for islets and immunomodulation of the alloimmune response using redox modulation. Redox modulation by the catalytic antioxidant (CA), FBC-007, has proven islet-sparing and immunomodulatory as demonstrated in our previous *in vitro* studies which detail the ability of CA to impair NF-κB activation in APCs (48) and to decrease CD4 (26) and CD8 T cell responses (123). Additionally redox modulation enhances human islet function post-isolation (38, 39) and murine islet function versus nonspecific ischemia reperfusion injury post-transplant (Figure 24). We have previously observed a delay in allograft rejection using systemic redox modulation (Figure 26), however the mechanism(s) responsible for *in vivo* protection from the alloimmune response have not been elucidated. A focus of this study is to investigate the mechanism of CA's immunomodulatory abilities in an *in vivo* model of allogeneic islet transplantation.

The second approach aims to treat transplant recipients in the absence of nonspecific immunosuppression using an antigen-specific negative vaccination approach. The negative vaccination consists of apoptotic donor cells administered prior to allograft transplant in incomplete freund's adjuvant (IFA). It is well-known that apoptotic cells induce tolerance and evade immunity (29, 137, 138). By educating the recipient immune system with apoptotic donor cells, in the absence of inflammation, DCs remain in the steady-state resulting in tolerance versus activation in response to donor alloantigen (5, 36). Antigen is detectable for a minimum of one week when given in IFA (subcutaneously or intraperitoneally), suggesting that unresponsiveness is a result of a slow, persistent depot release of antigen compared to the fleeting persistence of antigen administered in PBS (139, 140). Additionally, subcutaneously administered antigen is detectable longer than antigen given IV due to the route of administration affording a slow

78

release of antigen into the draining lymph nodes. Subcutaneously delivered antigen can persist for several days allowing an extended period of time for the APCs to process and present antigen unlike quick clearance when antigen is in the circulation via an IV route of delivery (141). Other methods using donor cells to delay allograft rejection have been preformed, but these strategies use live, chemically-treated or manipulated cells, with most protocols requiring the use of some form of immunosuppressant therapy in conjunction with the donor cells to achieve any delay in allograft rejection (43, 142-145). Some groups have irradiated donor splenocytes while others give antigen in IFA (141), but never has there been an approach combining the two methods: using apoptotic donor cells administered subcutaneously in IFA to induce a depot delivery of apoptotic alloantigen in a non-inflammatory environment so the donor antigen can be processed as self-antigen by host APCs (5, 143) to induce tolerance. Warren et al (1986) theorizes that the depot release of antigen is an attribute specific to adjuvants to induce an antigenic response, however, when a non-immunogenic antigen, like apoptotic donor cells, are delivered subcutaneously in a non-inflammatory adjuvant (IFA), we hypothesize that long-term antigenspecific hyporesponsiveness will occur. In this study we analyze the affects of CA-treatment and negative vaccination on the immune system in naïve mice and in an islet transplant setting to elucidate the mechanisms underlying the delay in allograft rejection.

#### 4.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.3.1 Mice

Male 6-8 week old C57BL/6 (H2-b) and BALB/c (H2-d) mice were purchased from

Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME). All animal studies were approved and trials were conducted in accordance with the University of Pittsburgh Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### 4.3.2 Viability assays

Spleens from BALB/c mice were harvested, homogenized, and lysed. Half of the splenocytes from each spleen remained untreated and the remaining cells were exposed to 3500 rads using an x-ray machine. Both groups of splenocytes were incubated in Complete Splenocyte Medium (DMEM supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 10 mM Hepes buffer, 4 mM l-glutamine, 200 µM nonessential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 61.5 µM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 100 µg/ml gentamicin (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA)) under normal conditions (37°C at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in a humid air incubator) for 16 hours as cell death does not occur immediately after x-ray irradiation. After incubation cells were harvested and stained with FITC-conjugated Annexin-V and Propidium Iodide according to the BD Annexin V-FITC Apoptosis Detection Kit I manufacturer's protocol (BD Biosciences). Fluorescence was measured on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences).

#### **4.3.3** Mixed leukocyte reactions (MLRs)

Unidirectional MLRs were performed by co-culture of  $10^6$  BALB/c splenocyte stimulators (treated with 3500 rad) with  $10^6$  C57BL/6 splenocyte responders as described by (80) with minor modification. All MLRs were performed in 96-well, round-bottom plates in a final volume of 200 µl CM and incubated for 5 days under normal conditions.

#### 4.3.4 In vitro analysis of the T<sub>H</sub>1 response after treatment with the therapeutic strategies

C57BL/6 mice were used as "recipients" and BALB/c mice were used as "donors". To analyze the  $T_H1$  response when mice are treated with redox modulation C57BL/6 mice were injected with PBS or 10 mg/kg CA per day for 7 days. On the 7<sup>th</sup> day, CA-treated and sham PBS-treated mice were sacrificed and the spleens were prepared for a unidirectional C57BL/6 responder MLR as previously described. To analyze the  $T_H1$  response when mice are treated with a negative vaccination  $10^7$  BALB/c splenocytes were irradiated at 3500 rads and mixed 1:1 in IFA and delivered subcutaneously in C57BL/6 mice at the base of the tail in a volume of 100  $\mu$ l on day 1. On day 7, untreated and negatively vaccinated mice were sacrificed and MLRs were preformed as previously described. Supernatants of all MLRs were harvested on Days 1-5 and IFN- $\gamma$  ELISAs were performed.

### 4.3.5 Cytokine measurements by ELISA

MLR assays were performed as described above and supernatants were harvested on days 1 through 5 to measure IFN-γ production by ELISA. IFN-γ produced in supernatants of 96-well MLR assays were measured using antibody pairs from BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). ELISA plates were read on a Spectromax M2 microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) and data were analyzed using Softmax Pro v5.0.1 (Molecular Devices).

#### 4.3.6 Islet allograft transplants

8-12 week old C57BL/6 males were used as recipients and 8-12 week old BALB/c mice were used as islet donors. Recipients received an intraperitoneal injection of 240 mg/kg streptozotocin (Sigma) on day 1 to induce islet cell death and subsequent diabetes. Animals were tested for diabetes using urine-test strips (Bayer) on day 3. All diabetic animals received 1 unit of insulin (Lantus) and 500 µl Ringers solution on days 3-5. On day 5, islets were isolated from naive donor BALB/c mice as described in (125). The same day, islets were simultaneously picked, counted, and redistributed into petri dishes containing 150 islets each. Each dish of islets contained islet media (10% heat-inactivated FBS, 2% Hepes [1M], 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin [10,000 mg/ml], 1 % L-glutamine [200 mM], and 0.1% 2-β-mercaptoethanol [50mM] in RPMI sterile-filtered). Islets were incubated up to 24 hours at 37 degrees C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Non-fasting blood glucose levels were tested in recipient mice on day 6 by obtaining a small blood sample from the retro-orbital sinus. Only animals with blood glucose 400 mg/dl and above were used as recipients in this study. CA-treated recipients were injected with 100 µl of 2mM CA subcutaneously beginning three days before islet transplant and were injected daily throughout the duration of the experiment. Negatively vaccinated mice were injected subcutaneously at the base of the tail with 100  $\mu$ l of a 1:1 mixture of 10<sup>7</sup> apoptotic BALB/c splenocytes to incomplete freund's adjuvant (IFA) 7 days before the islet transplant. Donor splenocytes were rendered apoptotic through exposure to 3500 rads using a  $\gamma$ -irradiator or x-ray machine and the negative vaccination was emulsified using a leur-lock syringe system (Hamilton) prior to injection. Three hundred untreated BALB/c islets were transplanted under the kidney capsule of diabetic C57BL/6 recipients as previously mentioned. All diabetic recipients became euglycemic posttransplant. Blood glucose was checked every other day. Two consecutive blood glucose readings over 400 mg/dl were indicative of allograft rejection. Diabetic animals were sacrificed following the second consecutive reading. Some recipients, however, were sacrificed 14 days post-transplant. Their kidneys were used for IHC and H&E staining, and their spleens were used for recall MLRs, for cytokine analysis.

#### 4.3.7 Immunohistochemical analysis

Mouse kidney samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 3 hours then transferred to 30% sucrose. After being imbedded in frozen section medium (Richard-Allan Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI.), cryo-sections (10µm) were cut using a cryostat (Microm HM550, Germen) and mounted onto gelatin coated or pre-cleaned slides. Sections were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde for 5 minutes on gelatin-coated slides and then blocked with 20% normal goat serum for 1 hour at room temperature. Primary antibodies included rat anti-F4/80 1:100 (Caltag Laboratories Inc, Burlingame, CA), rat anti-CD4 1:20, rat anti-CD8 1:20, hamster anti-CD11c 1:30 (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA). Polyclonal rabbit anti-insulin (1:100) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. Santa Cruz, CA) was double stained on these sections. Slides were washed 5 times in PBS and incubated with an Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), Cy3-conjugated goat anti-rat or goat anti-hamster (Jackson Immuno Research Lab, INC. West Grove, PA) secondary antibody. Then, slides were washed 3 times in PBS and nuclear staining was preformed with Hoechst stain. Next, slides were mounted with cover glass and images were captured at 20x magnification using a Nikon confocal microscope (Nikon D-ECLIPSE C1, Japan).

#### 4.3.8 Statistical Analysis

Mean data are expressed as standard error of the mean (SEM). The difference between mean values was determined by a Student t test and the area under the curve was determined using the trapezoidal rule. Kaplan-Meier survival plots were analyzed by the Log-rank test. All statistical analysis was performed with the aid of PRISM (Graphpad, San Diego, CA) and JMP statistical software from the SAS institute using p<0.05 to achieve significance.

#### 4.4 RESULTS

#### 4.4.1 Treating splenocytes with 3500 rads induces apoptosis

It is well-documented that apoptotic cells can induce tolerance as they present antigen in the absence of inflammation (5, 36, 137, 138). To demonstrate that exposing cells to radiation induces apoptosis we performed a viability assay on untreated splenocytes or splenocytes which were exposed to a dose of 3500 rads (Figure 27). After 18 hours in culture, the majority of untreated cells were live (74.86 +/- 0.80), while the majority of cells exposed to radiation were late apoptotic (94.94 +/- 0.39). This data indicates that radiation induces apoptosis in over 90% of cells, making the cell preparation suitable for tolerance induction using irradiated donor cells, requiring no further manipulation or exogenous treatment with any reagent. This data also demonstrates the negligible presence of necrotic cells (2.05 +/- 0.61), which are known to induce inflammation (137, 138).



Fig. 27. Irradiation induces apoptosis in BALB/c splenocytes. BALB/c splenocytes were untreated (white bars) or treated with 3500 rads (black bars). Cells from both groups were plated at  $10^6$  cells/well in a 96 well plate. 18 hours later cells were harvested for a viability assay using Annexin V and PI. The top panel shows a distribution of the cell populations, which were assigned groupings based on classical Annexin V and PI staining. The lower panel details the graph in the top panel showing specific p values. Results are presented as the mean (± SEM) of three independent experiments. \*\*, p < 0.05 between the respective treated and untreated (control) group.

# 4.4.2 The $T_{\rm H}$ 1 response after treatment with the therapeutic strategies in naïve mice not receiving a transplant

The  $T_H 1$  response is the dominant component of the T-cell mediated alloimmune response that destroys donor allografts. For this reason, the effect of our therapeutic strategies on IFN- $\gamma$  production was analyzed in naïve animals prior to attempting our strategies in allograft transplantation. We tested our therapeutic approaches by administering treatment to C57B/6 mice and then sacrificing the animal 7 days later to perform *in vitro* MLRs to measure the production of IFN- $\gamma$  in the supernatants as an indicator of any effect on the  $T_H 1$  response. Animals were untreated, sham injected with PBS, treated daily with 10 mg/kg CA for 7 days, or received a negative vaccination of irradiated BALB/c splenocytes in IFA given subcutaneously 7 days prior to MLR (Figure 28). Compared to untreated control mice, mice receiving daily CAtreatment (Figure 28A) or the negative vaccination (Figure 28B) demonstrated a marginally significant decrease in IFN- $\gamma$  production on day 5 of an MLR. These data suggest that our therapeutic strategies are not immunogenic or harshly immunosuppressive.



Fig. 28. In vivo treatment with CA or a negative vaccination is not immunogenic or harshly immunosuppressive. C57BL/6 mice were injected with PBS daily for 7 days (n=4) (white bars) (A), treated with CA at 10mg/kg/day for 7 days (n=4) (black bars) (A), given a single negative vaccination with apoptotic BALB/c splenocytes in IFA on day 1 (n=3) (checkered bars) (B), or untreated for 7 days (n=3) (white bars) (B). On the 8<sup>th</sup> day, all mice were sacrificed and MLR assays were performed in a 1:1 ratio of stimulators and responders using irradiated BALB/c splenocytes as stimulators. Supernatants were harvested on days 1-5 and IFN- $\gamma$  ELISAs were performed. Results are presented as the mean (± SEM) of at least three independent experiments. \*\*, p < 0.05 between the respective treated and untreated (control) group.

### 4.4.3 The negative vaccination strategy induces long-term allograft tolerance

Next, we performed allograft transplants using BALB/c (H-2d) donor islets and diabetic C57BL/6 (H-2b) recipients to determine if our therapeutic strategies were capable of delaying or preventing allograft rejection (Figure 29). On average, untreated control recipients rejected islet allografts in 22.0 +/- 0.73 days (n=6). Recipients receiving a daily injection of CA, beginning 3 days prior to transplant, demonstrated a significant delay (Log-rank, p=0.0005) in allograft rejection (33.83 +/- 1.51 days, n=6) compared to untreated controls. Recipients treated with the negative vaccination ( $10^7$  BALB/c splenocytes exposed to 3500 rads and emulsified in IFA) 7 days prior to transplant reached the highest significance (Log-rank, p<0.0001) by maintaining islet allografts that sustained function in excess of 60 days (n=6). These results demonstrate that redox modulation can delay allograft rejection, though the negative vaccination appears to be the more effective strategy to induce long-term allograft tolerance.



Fig. 29. CA delays allograft rejection and a negative vaccination induces long-term allograft tolerance. A: Diabetic C57BL/6 mice were untreated (n=6) (black line), systemically treated with CA daily, beginning 3 days before transplant (n=6) (red line), or given a single negative vaccination of apoptotic BALB/c splenocytes in IFA 7 days prior to transplant (n=6) (blue line). Log-rank was used to determine statistical significance between treated and untreated groups. B: This table details mean day to allograft failure for each group presented as means ( $\pm$  SEM). A "t" test was used to determine significance between treated and untreated groups and resultant p values are shown. \*\*, p < 0.05 was used to determine significance between the respective treated and untreated (control) groups.

#### 4.4.4 The T<sub>H</sub>1 response in recipients of the therapeutic strategies 14 days post-transplant

In order to examine the effects of redox modulation or the negative vaccination on the T<sub>H</sub>1 immune response in transplant recipients we used splenocytes from transplant recipients 14 days post-transplant as responders and irradiated BALB/c splenocytes as stimulators in recall MLRs. Upon secondary exposure to alloantigen in a recall MLR, untreated recipients produced significantly amplified levels of IFN-y compared to a primary MLR (Figure 30). Recipients treated with CA responded to a secondary exposure of alloantigen with substantially decreased levels of IFN-γ compared to untreated recipients correlating with previously published work demonstrating the ability of redox modulation to induce antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness (26). Recipients of the negative vaccination produced IFN- $\gamma$  levels comparable to those in a primary MLR, though this recall MLR is actually generating a tertiary response to alloantigen. Recipients of the negative vaccination were first exposed to alloantigen 7 days before allograft transplant with the negative vaccination and then for a second time with the allograft transplant, itself. Since the day 14 in vitro recall MLR is a tertiary response to alloantigen for recipients of the negative vaccination controlled IFN-y levels served as predictors of long-term allograft tolerance for this treatment group.



Fig. 30. CA-treatment or a negative vaccination can impair the  $T_{H1}$  response in a recall MLR 14 days post-allotransplant. C57BL/6 recipients were untreated (n=2) (R1, R2) (black bars), treated with CA daily beginning 3 days prior to transplant (n=2) (red bars) (R3, R4), or given a negative vaccination of apoptotic BALB/c splenocytes in IFA 7 days prior to transplant (n=1) (blue bars) (L1). On post-transplant day 14, all mice were sacrificed and recall MLR assays were performed using a 1:1 ratio of stimulators and responders using irradiated BALB/c splenocytes as stimulators. Supernatants were harvested on days 1-5 and IFN- $\gamma$  ELISAs were performed. Each set of bars represents an individual recipient. The solid blue line represents the maximum IFN- $\gamma$  response from naïve MLRs (n=3).
#### 4.4.5 Immunohistochemical analysis of islet-bearing kidneys 14 days post-transplant

To examine the cellular infiltrate at the site of the islet allografts, we performed immunohistochemical analysis on islet-bearing kidneys 14 days post-transplant. For all sections, insulin is stained green and nuclear staining is blue. In panel A (Figure 31), untreated recipients and recipients treated with the negative vaccination show a similar innate immune infiltrate of macrophages (F4/80), while stained sections of recipients treated daily with CA showed an overall decrease in peri-islet macrophage infiltrate. To examine the T-cell infiltrate, sections were stained with T cell specific antibodies. We observed the presence of a CD4 T cell population in untreated animals. Comparatively, recipients of the negative vaccination show a stronger presence of peri-islet CD4 T cells, and CA-treated recipients show the least amount of CD4 T cell infiltrate, as the only CD4 positive cells are on the periphery in the CA-treated sections (Figure 31B). To assess the infiltrate of cells responsible for direct damage to islets, sections were stained with a CD8 T cell antibody. Untreated recipients show the most pronounced presence and infiltrate of CD8 T cells, followed by a few CD8 T cells on the periphery for the negatively vaccinated recipients, and a barely detectable presence of CD8 T cells in recipients treated with CA (Figure 31C). Immunostaining for recipients receiving CAtreatment reveals a reduction in immune cell infiltrate, correlating with the delay in allograft rejection. The data also suggests a regulatory component for CD4 T cells surrounding islets in recipients of the negative vaccination as this CD4 T cell population is associated with allograft tolerance



**Fig. 31. Immunohistochemistry of islet-bearing kidneys 14 days post-transplant.** C57BL/6 recipients were **untreated**, treated with **CA** daily beginning 3 days prior to transplant, or given a **negative vaccination** of apoptotic BALB/c splenocytes in IFA 7 days prior to transplant. For all slides green = insulin and blue = dapi. A: red = F4/80, B: red = CD4, and C: red = CD8. Sections shown are representative of respective groups.

### 4.6 DISCUSSION

Poor outcomes in islet transplantation forces the clinic to reserve islet transplantation only for brittle diabetics with severe blood glucose dysregulation because transplant recipients often suffer an increase in systemic complications post-transplant in excess of those attributed to type 1 diabetes (13). Current literature calls for improved cytoprotection for islets and antigenspecific immunosuppressive therapies, which can be employed in the absence of nonspecific immunosuppressive agents. The aim of this study was to introduce new approaches to old problems in islet transplantation in an attempt to improve islet transplantation protocols. By reducing challenges of islet transplantation including the side effects of harsh, nonspecific immunosuppressive drugs, it is possible to make the procedure more consistent with outcomes of long-term insulin-independence.

While the benefits of redox modulation have been widely reported (26, 38, 39, 48), the *in vivo* mechanism(s) responsible for immunomodulation by redox modulation have not been thoroughly examined in allograft transplantation. The approach of negative vaccination using our therapeutic protocol is novel in that IFA alone does not induce tolerance (141, 146-149) thus indicating that alloantigen-expressing apoptotic BALB/c splenocytes are the tolerizing component of our negative vaccination therapy. Irradiating donor splenocytes proved successful at achieving apoptotic donor cells (Figure 27) and our previous work with redox modulation characterizes its abilities to impair the immune response to alloantigen (123) and to augment islet

94

viability and function (38, 39). Figure 28A demonstrates that systemic treatment with CA is not severely immunosuppressive, suggesting that CA-treatment will not induce chronic infection or malignancy. Additionally, previous work with murine and human islets demonstrates that this agent is a nontoxic, cytoprotective, anti-inflammatory, and islet-sparing therapeutic (38, 39, 123), which is not the case with currently used immunosuppressive drugs, which specifically target adaptive immune function and can impair islet viability and function.

IFN- $\gamma$  levels in the MLR assays from the negatively vaccinated mice (no transplant) are especially remarkable (Figure 28B), since the MLR is a secondary exposure to alloantigen as the first exposure is the negative vaccination. This result is evidence that our negative vaccination strategy is capable of controlling T<sub>H</sub>1 immunity to donor alloantigen. Typically a secondary response to antigen produces a substantially elevated response compared to that of a primary response (Figure 30). After first using naïve animals to test our therapeutic strategies of systemic redox modulation and negative vaccination, these approaches were then tested in an *in vivo* model of transplant rejection where recipient mice were either untreated, injected with CA daily beginning 3 days prior to transplant, or treated with the donor-specific negative vaccination 7 days prior to transplant (Figure 29).

The negative vaccination strategy proved the most successful as none of the transplant recipients rejected their allogeneic islet transplant compared to recipients of redox modulation, which induced a delay allograft rejection for a significant period of time compared to untreated controls. To analyze *in vivo* treatments prior to graft failure, we performed recall MLRs on a cohort of transplant recipients treated with one of our therapeutic protocols14 days post-transplant to examine effects on the  $T_{H1}$  response by measuring IFN- $\gamma$  levels. The success rate of the allograft transplants did not correlate with the inhibition of IFN- $\gamma$  (Figure 30) since CA-

95

treatment only afforded a delay in rejection yet produced the lowest  $T_H1$  response. Surprisingly, recipients of the negative vaccination maintained long-term allograft tolerance despite higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$  in the recall MLR compared to recipients treated with CA (Figure 30). The work of Markees, et al, and Konieczny, et al reveals that IFN- $\gamma$  is required for graft acceptance, suggesting that our dosage of CA-treatment decreases IFN- $\gamma$  levels to a range that may not be supportive of allograft tolerance (150, 151). Though redox modulation alone appears insufficient to entirely ablate allograft rejection, CA has much potential to be added to currently utilized transplant protocols to achieve long-term allograft tolerance while minimizing complications for the recipient.

The most notable difference in  $T_H 1$  analysis when using redox modulation (no allograft transplant) (Figure 28A) and in  $T_H 1$  analysis 14 days post-transplantation (Figure 30) is exposure to alloantigen (allograft transplant). As reported in our previous work (26), redox modulation can induce antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness. For example, when redox modulation is administered 3 days before transplant (exposure to alloantigen) a marked reduction in antigenspecific effector function is achieved (Figure 30). Taken together, *in vivo* treatment with CA prior to *in vivo* (exposure to alloantigen) induces antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness as demonstrated by a depressed  $T_H 1$  response in the secondary MLR in Figure 30. Comparatively, *in vivo* treatment with CA prior to a primary in vitro MLR does not result in robust immunomodulation to significantly suppress the  $T_H 1$  response as naïve mice treated with CA only yielded a slight decrease in IFN- $\gamma$  levels on day 5 of the MLR (Figure 28A). Since the recipients of the *in vivo* negative vaccination (receiving no transplant) were exposed/tolerized to antigen with the vaccination itself, the in vitro MLR (Figure 28B) served as a secondary response. The day 14 post-transplant MLR using responder splenocytes from recipients of the

negative vaccination assays a tertiary response since the transplant is the second exposure to alloantigen and the negative vaccination is the first (Figure 29). In both secondary and tertiary MLRs for recipients of the negative vaccination, the  $T_H1$  response was the same, which further confirms induction of long-term allograft tolerance.

More insight into the mechanisms responsible for the delay/prevention of allograft rejection using redox modulation and a donor-specific negative vaccination was presented with immunohistochemical analysis of immune cell populations (Figure 31A-C) 14 days posttransplant. A decreased macrophage infiltrate was observed in recipients of redox modulation, most likely due to impaired NF- $\kappa$ B signaling (48), while an increase in macrophage (F4/80) staining was seen in untreated and negatively vaccinated recipients (Figure 31A). These data demonstrate the ability of systemic CA to impair activation of the pro-inflammatory innateimmune response resulting in fewer macrophages trafficking to the site of the islet graft in CAtreated recipients. The CD4 T cell infiltrate is peri-islet in untreated and negatively vaccinated recipients. While the CD4 T cells are present in the CA-treated recipients, they appear to have migrated to a location a distance from the islet allograft (Figure 31B). We observed a noninvasive peri-islet CD4 T cell infiltrate, suggesting a regulatory function for these CD4 T cells found at the site of the allograft in negatively vaccinated recipients, which did not reject their allograft. The decreased infiltrate found in sections of CA-treated recipients suggests impaired activation and migration by immune cells. Lastly, direct effectors of islet cell death, the CD8 T cell population, appear to be most prevalent in untreated recipients, undetectable in CA-treated recipients and sparse in recipients of the negative vaccination (Figure 31C).

Taken together, the subcutaneous delivery of apoptotic cells in IFA in our protocol may be able to tolerize an increased number of T cells compared to IV delivery as Kearney et al

97

discovered that the total number of antigen-specific T cells in the lymph nodes following a subcutaneous injection were higher compared to IV or IP routes of delivery (141). Negative vaccination succeeds in alloantigen-specific hyporesponsiveness (Figure 30) and achieves islet allograft tolerance (Figure 29), though it does not bolster function of the islet allograft or impair autoimmunity like redox modulation. Based on previous studies, it is possible that systemic CA-treatment could depress autoreactive T cell effector function (49) in addition to offering protection from alloimmunity for islets post-transplant, as shown in this study (Figure 29). Ideally, recipients of islet transplants should receive islets that are functionally more robust and protected from nonspecific inflammation (38, 39) while avoiding complications of non-specific immunosuppression to achieve antigen-specific long-term allograft tolerance. A therapeutic protocol encompassing these requirements is especially applicable in islet transplantation using CA-treated islets from brain-dead donors and also in live kidney transplantation where peripheral blood leukocytes (PBL) can be easily harvested for the negative vaccination strategy, all in an effort to increase the probability of long-term islet allograft function.

# SUPPLEMENTAL DATA FOR FIGURES 13, 14, 17, 20 & 21



Supplement to Fig. 13. Redox modulation inhibits IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on OT-1 Transgenic CD8 T cells. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 13.



Supplement to Fig. 14A. Redox modulation has no effect on IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on BALB/c T cells. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 14A.



Supplement to Fig. 14B. Redox modulation has no effect on IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$ -chain (CD25) expression on BALB/c T cells. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 14B.



**Supplement to Fig. 17. Redox modulation does not induce Foxp3 expression.** Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 17.



**Supplement to Fig. 17. Redox modulation does not induce Foxp3 expression.** Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 17.



**Supplement to Fig. 20A. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN-γ in alloantigen-specific CTLs.** Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 20A.



Supplement to Fig. 20B. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of perforin in alloantigen-specific CTLs. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 20B.



Supplement to Fig. 20C. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of granzyme B in alloantigen-specific CTLs. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 20C.



Supplement to Fig. 20D. Redox modulation decreases surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on alloantigen-specific CTLs. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 20D.



**Supplement to Fig. 21A. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of IFN-γ in OT-1 CTLs.** Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 21A.



Supplement to Fig. 21B. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of perforin in OT-1 CTLs. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 21B.



Supplement to Fig. 21C. Redox modulation decreases intracellular expression of granzyme B in OT-1 CTLs. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 21C.



Supplement to Fig. 21D. Redox modulation decreases surface expression of CD107a (LAMP-1) on OT-1 CTLs. Supplemental FACS data showing three similar experiments representing the trend shown in Fig. 21D.

### CONCLUSIONS

There have been several advances in islet transplantation over the last decade, however, many improvements must be made to ensure predictable long-term insulin-independence for allograft recipients. Our studies were performed in an effort to increase graft function posttransplant by refining the procedure of islet transplantation. While we have elucidated the benefits of using redox modulation in islet transplantation, we suspect that redox modulation can be advantageous in other autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Redox modulation of immune function has great potential to reach the clinic for multiple uses including transplantation, autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, hypoxic injuries like stroke and heart attacks, cancer, and in degenerative disorders like Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Redox modulation has been well characterized in innate immunity and innate-immune signaling, however, the effects of CA on adaptive immune signaling must be pursued in disease-related models to implement systemic use in humans.

It is known that redox modulation induces "miseducation" of DCs by impairment of NF- $\kappa$ B and 3<sup>rd</sup> signal of activation (26, 48), which has downstream effects on T cell activation (26, 123). In the presence of redox modulation, decreases in STAT4 and T-bet activation in CD4 T cells (Tse, unpublished data) and depression of CD3 expression in CD4 and CD8 T cells have been observed (Sklavos, unpublished data). However, within the T cell, the effects of redox modulation on NF- $\kappa$ B activation and tyrosine phosphorylation, both essential for T cell activation, have not been thoroughly examined. Previously we demonstrated that BDC-2.5 T

cells are not deleted *in vivo* when upon adaptive transfer into young NOD.*scid* mice after CAtreatment (Piganelli, unpublished data). CA-treatment does not induce anergy in T cells as secondary proliferative responses are in tact (26) nor does it induce a regulatory population based on invariable Foxp3 expression in CA-treated cells compared to untreated controls (Sklavos, unpublished data). These data eliminate the possibility of an inducible T regulatory cell population arising in the presence of redox modulation. Ignorance is not a possibility, as exposure to antigen is uninhibited in our *in vitro* studies and T cells come in contact with antigen *in vivo*, as evidenced by *in vivo* recall assays (26); (Sklavos, unpublished data). Based on the aforementioned studies, redox modulation cannot be grouped under classical mechanisms.

Further analysis of the negative vaccination strategy is also required as the mechanism(s) of tolerance has not yet been identified. Anergy, regulation, and deletion of alloreactive T cells are all possibilities, though these mechanisms have yet to be tested. In review of this body of work, redox modulation holds potential as a clinical therapeutic. Since *in vivo* administration of CA depots in the liver, it would be an ideal therapeutic to use in islet transplantation as islets are infused into the portal vein to promote liver-engraftment. Presently, redox modulation is being used as cytoprotection for islets in trials of xenograft transplantation with non-human primates. Though in early stages, studies treating porcine islets with redox modulation prior to transplant into non-human primates mirror results from our murine transplant models. In both trials, recipients of CA-treated islets normalized to a lower blood glucose compared to recipients of untreated islets (Bottino, unpublished data). Based on the success in non-human primates, the next step for redox modulation is as a cytoprotective agent for whole organ cold storage/islet isolation/culture in clinical transplantation. Perhaps the first clinical work with redox modulation will be during islet isolation of autoislet transplants for patients with pancreatitis.

Based on our murine studies, redox modulation cannot be used as a monotherapy to inhibit allograft rejection. However, there is potential for redox modulation to be used systemically, in combination with a decreased dose and/or duration of immunosuppressive agents to protect islets from the toxic effects of harmful anti-rejection agents. This analysis of redox modulation using a small molecule catalytic antioxidant (CA) demonstrates that this strategy is effective as a cytoprotective and immunomodulatory approach that can be used in tissue-directed (islets incubated in CA), sustained-release pellet, or systemic form to improve islet function and impair allograft rejection of transplanted islets.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Halloran, P. F. 2004. Immunosuppressive drugs for kidney transplantation. *N Engl J Med* 351:2715.
- 2. Land, W. G. 2007. Innate immunity-mediated allograft rejection and strategies to prevent it. *Transplant Proc* 39:667.
- 3. Naftanel, M. A., and D. M. Harlan. 2004. Pancreatic islet transplantation. *PLoS Med 1:e58; quiz e75.*
- 4. Day, B. J., I. Batinic-Haberle, and J. D. Crapo. 1999. Metalloporphyrins are potent inhibitors of lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med* 26:730.
- 5. Morelli, A. E., and A. W. Thomson. 2003. Dendritic cells: regulators of alloimmunity and opportunities for tolerance induction. *Immunol Rev 196:125*.
- 6. Pirot, P., A. K. Cardozo, and D. L. Eizirik. 2008. Mediators and mechanisms of pancreatic beta-cell death in type 1 diabetes. *Arg Bras Endocrinol Metabol* 52:156.
- 7. Obhrai, J., and D. R. Goldstein. 2006. The role of toll-like receptors in solid organ transplantation. *Transplantation* 81:497.
- 8. Roncarolo, M. G., and M. Battaglia. 2007. Regulatory T-cell immunotherapy for tolerance to self antigens and alloantigens in humans. *Nat Rev Immunol* 7:585.
- 9. Thomson, G. 1984. HLA DR antigens and susceptibility to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Am J Hum Genet 36:1309*.
- 10. Metcalfe, K. A., G. A. Hitman, R. E. Rowe, M. Hawa, X. Huang, T. Stewart, and R. D. Leslie. 2001. Concordance for type 1 diabetes in identical twins is affected by insulin genotype. *Diabetes Care 24:838*.
- 11. Ichii, H., and C. Ricordi. 2009. Current status of islet cell transplantation. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 16:101*.
- Ryan, E. A., B. W. Paty, P. A. Senior, D. Bigam, E. Alfadhli, N. M. Kneteman, J. R. Lakey, and A. M. Shapiro. 2005. Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. *Diabetes* 54:2060.
- 13. Shapiro, A. M., C. Ricordi, B. J. Hering, H. Auchincloss, R. Lindblad, R. P. Robertson, A. Secchi, M. D. Brendel, T. Berney, D. C. Brennan, E. Cagliero, R. Alejandro, E. A.

Ryan, B. DiMercurio, P. Morel, K. S. Polonsky, J. A. Reems, R. G. Bretzel, F. Bertuzzi, T. Froud, R. Kandaswamy, D. E. Sutherland, G. Eisenbarth, M. Segal, J. Preiksaitis, G. S. Korbutt, F. B. Barton, L. Viviano, V. Seyfert-Margolis, J. Bluestone, and J. R. Lakey. 2006. International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation. *N Engl J Med 355:1318*.

- 14. Contreras, J. L., C. Eckstein, C. A. Smyth, M. T. Sellers, M. Vilatoba, G. Bilbao, F. G. Rahemtulla, C. J. Young, J. A. Thompson, I. H. Chaudry, and D. E. Eckhoff. 2003. Brain death significantly reduces isolated pancreatic islet yields and functionality in vitro and in vivo after transplantation in rats. *Diabetes 52:2935*.
- 15. Balamurugan, A. N., R. Bottino, N. Giannoukakis, and C. Smetanka. 2006. Prospective and challenges of islet transplantation for the therapy of autoimmune diabetes. *Pancreas* 32:231.
- Contreras, J. L., G. Bilbao, C. A. Smyth, X. L. Jiang, D. E. Eckhoff, S. M. Jenkins, F. T. Thomas, D. T. Curiel, and J. M. Thomas. 2001. Cytoprotection of pancreatic islets before and soon after transplantation by gene transfer of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 gene. *Transplantation* 71:1015.
- 17. Gandy, S. E., M. G. Buse, and R. K. Crouch. 1982. Protective role of superoxide dismutase against diabetogenic drugs. *J Clin Invest* 70:650.
- 18. Kroncke, K. D., H. H. Brenner, M. L. Rodriguez, K. Etzkorn, E. A. Noack, H. Kolb, and V. Kolb-Bachofen. 1993. Pancreatic islet cells are highly susceptible towards the cytotoxic effects of chemically generated nitric oxide. *Biochim Biophys Acta 1182:221*.
- 19. Eizirik, D. L., C. A. Delaney, M. H. Green, J. M. Cunningham, J. R. Thorpe, D. G. Pipeleers, C. Hellerstrom, and I. C. Green. 1996. Nitric oxide donors decrease the function and survival of human pancreatic islets. *Mol Cell Endocrinol 118:71*.
- 20. Grankvist, K., S. L. Marklund, and I. B. Taljedal. 1981. CuZn-superoxide dismutase, Mnsuperoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase in pancreatic islets and other tissues in the mouse. *Biochem J* 199:393.
- 21. Lenzen, S., J. Drinkgern, and M. Tiedge. 1996. Low antioxidant enzyme gene expression in pancreatic islets compared with various other mouse tissues. *Free Radic Biol Med* 20:463.
- 22. Tiedge, M., S. Lortz, J. Drinkgern, and S. Lenzen. 1997. Relation between antioxidant enzyme gene expression and antioxidative defense status of insulin-producing cells. *Diabetes 46:1733*.
- 23. Zhang, N., D. Su, S. Qu, T. Tse, R. Bottino, A. N. Balamurugan, J. Xu, J. S. Bromberg, and H. H. Dong. 2006. Sirolimus is associated with reduced islet engraftment and impaired beta-cell function. *Diabetes* 55:2429.

- Markmann, J. F., S. Deng, N. M. Desai, X. Huang, E. Velidedeoglu, A. Frank, C. Liu, K. L. Brayman, M. M. Lian, B. Wolf, E. Bell, M. Vitamaniuk, N. Doliba, F. Matschinsky, E. Markmann, C. F. Barker, and A. Naji. 2003. The use of non-heart-beating donors for isolated pancreatic islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 75:1423.
- Frank, A., S. Deng, X. Huang, E. Velidedeoglu, Y. S. Bae, C. Liu, P. Abt, R. Stephenson, M. Mohiuddin, T. Thambipillai, E. Markmann, M. Palanjian, M. Sellers, A. Naji, C. F. Barker, and J. F. Markmann. 2004. Transplantation for type I diabetes: comparison of vascularized whole-organ pancreas with isolated pancreatic islets. *Ann Surg 240:631*.
- 26. Tse, H. M., M. J. Milton, S. Schreiner, J. L. Profozich, M. Trucco, and J. D. Piganelli. 2007. Disruption of innate-mediated proinflammatory cytokine and reactive oxygen species third signal leads to antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness. *J Immunol 178:908*.
- 27. Curtsinger, J. M., D. C. Lins, and M. F. Mescher. 2003. Signal 3 determines tolerance versus full activation of naive CD8 T cells: dissociating proliferation and development of effector function. *J Exp Med* 197:1141.
- Curtsinger, J. M., C. S. Schmidt, A. Mondino, D. C. Lins, R. M. Kedl, M. K. Jenkins, and M. F. Mescher. 1999. Inflammatory cytokines provide a third signal for activation of naive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol 162:3256*.
- 29. Jenkins, M. K., A. Khoruts, E. Ingulli, D. L. Mueller, S. J. McSorley, R. L. Reinhardt, A. Itano, and K. A. Pape. 2001. In vivo activation of antigen-specific CD4 T cells. *Annu Rev Immunol 19:23*.
- 30. Lafferty, K. J., I. S. Misko, and M. A. Cooley. 1974. Allogeneic stimulation modulates the in vitro response of T cells to transplantation antigen. *Nature 249:275*.
- 31. Cunningham, A. J., and K. J. Lafferty. 1977. A simple, conservative explanation of the H-2 restriction of interactions between lymphocytes. *Scand J Immunol 6:1*.
- 32. Baxter, A. G., and P. D. Hodgkin. 2002. Activation rules: the two-signal theories of immune activation. *Nat Rev Immunol 2:439*.
- 33. Adams, A. B., T. C. Pearson, and C. P. Larsen. 2003. Heterologous immunity: an overlooked barrier to tolerance. *Immunol Rev 196:147*.
- Blattman, J. N., R. Antia, D. J. Sourdive, X. Wang, S. M. Kaech, K. Murali-Krishna, J. D. Altman, and R. Ahmed. 2002. Estimating the precursor frequency of naive antigenspecific CD8 T cells. *J Exp Med* 195:657.
- 35. Suchin, E. J., P. B. Langmuir, E. Palmer, M. H. Sayegh, A. D. Wells, and L. A. Turka. 2001. Quantifying the frequency of alloreactive T cells in vivo: new answers to an old question. *J Immunol 166:973*.

- 36. Banchereau, J., and R. M. Steinman. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature 392:245.*
- 37. Weinand, S., H. Jahr, B. J. Hering, K. Federlin, and R. G. Bretzel. 1999. Oxygen radical production in human mononuclear blood cells is not suppressed by drugs used in clinical islet transplantation. *J Mol Med* 77:121.
- 38. Bottino, R., A. N. Balamurugan, S. Bertera, M. Pietropaolo, M. Trucco, and J. D. Piganelli. 2002. Preservation of human islet cell functional mass by anti-oxidative action of a novel SOD mimic compound. *Diabetes* 51:2561.
- Bottino, R., A. N. Balamurugan, H. Tse, C. Thirunavukkarasu, X. Ge, J. Profozich, M. Milton, A. Ziegenfuss, M. Trucco, and J. D. Piganelli. 2004. Response of human islets to isolation stress and the effect of antioxidant treatment. *Diabetes* 53:2559.
- 40. Davalli, A. M., L. Scaglia, D. H. Zangen, J. Hollister, S. Bonner-Weir, and G. C. Weir. 1996. Vulnerability of islets in the immediate posttransplantation period. Dynamic changes in structure and function. *Diabetes* 45:1161.
- 41. Clark, R., and T. Kupper. 2005. Old meets new: the interaction between innate and adaptive immunity. *J Invest Dermatol 125:629*.
- 42. Machen, J., J. Harnaha, R. Lakomy, A. Styche, M. Trucco, and N. Giannoukakis. 2004. Antisense oligonucleotides down-regulating costimulation confer diabetes-preventive properties to nonobese diabetic mouse dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 173:4331.
- 43. Turnquist, H. R., G. Raimondi, A. F. Zahorchak, R. T. Fischer, Z. Wang, and A. W. Thomson. 2007. Rapamycin-conditioned dendritic cells are poor stimulators of allogeneic CD4+ T cells, but enrich for antigen-specific Foxp3+ T regulatory cells and promote organ transplant tolerance. *J Immunol* 178:7018.
- 44. Iwanaga, Y., D. E. Sutherland, J. V. Harmon, and K. K. Papas. 2008. Pancreas preservation for pancreas and islet transplantation. *Curr Opin Organ Transplant* 13:445.
- 45. Day, B. J., S. Shawen, S. I. Liochev, and J. D. Crapo. 1995. A metalloporphyrin superoxide dismutase mimetic protects against paraquat-induced endothelial cell injury, in vitro. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther 275:1227*.
- 46. Ferrer-Sueta, G., D. Vitturi, I. Batinic-Haberle, I. Fridovich, S. Goldstein, G. Czapski, and R. Radi. 2003. Reactions of manganese porphyrins with peroxynitrite and carbonate radical anion. *J Biol Chem* 278:27432.
- 47. Day, B. J., I. Fridovich, and J. D. Crapo. 1997. Manganic porphyrins possess catalase activity and protect endothelial cells against hydrogen peroxide-mediated injury. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 347:256.

- 48. Tse, H. M., M. J. Milton, and J. D. Piganelli. 2004. Mechanistic analysis of the immunomodulatory effects of a catalytic antioxidant on antigen-presenting cells: implication for their use in targeting oxidation-reduction reactions in innate immunity. *Free Radic Biol Med* 36:233.
- 49. Piganelli, J. D., S. C. Flores, C. Cruz, J. Koepp, I. Batinic-Haberle, J. Crapo, B. Day, R. Kachadourian, R. Young, B. Bradley, and K. Haskins. 2002. A metalloporphyrin-based superoxide dismutase mimic inhibits adoptive transfer of autoimmune diabetes by a diabetogenic T-cell clone. *Diabetes* 51:347.
- 50. Janeway, C. A., Jr. 2002. A trip through my life with an immunological theme. *Annu Rev Immunol 20:1*.
- 51. Janeway, C. A., Jr., and R. Medzhitov. 2002. Innate immune recognition. *Annu Rev Immunol 20:197*.
- 52. Medzhitov, R., and C. Janeway, Jr. 2000. Innate immunity. *N Engl J Med 343:338*.
- 53. Janeway, C. A., Jr., and K. Bottomly. 1994. Signals and signs for lymphocyte responses. *Cell* 76:275.
- 54. Pape, K. A., A. Khoruts, A. Mondino, and M. K. Jenkins. 1997. Inflammatory cytokines enhance the in vivo clonal expansion and differentiation of antigen-activated CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol 159:591*.
- 55. Gallucci, S., M. Lolkema, and P. Matzinger. 1999. Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* 5:1249.
- 56. Rincon, M., R. A. Flavell, and R. A. Davis. 2000. The JNK and P38 MAP kinase signaling pathways in T cell-mediated immune responses. *Free Radic Biol Med 28:1328*.
- 57. Trevejo, J. M., M. W. Marino, N. Philpott, R. Josien, E. C. Richards, K. B. Elkon, and E. Falck-Pedersen. 2001. TNF-alpha -dependent maturation of local dendritic cells is critical for activating the adaptive immune response to virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:12162.
- 58. Buckland, M., C. Jago, H. Fazekesova, A. George, R. Lechler, and G. Lombardi. 2006. Aspirin modified dendritic cells are potent inducers of allo-specific regulatory T-cells. *Int Immunopharmacol 6:1895*.
- 59. Hackstein, H., A. E. Morelli, A. T. Larregina, R. W. Ganster, G. D. Papworth, A. J. Logar, S. C. Watkins, L. D. Falo, and A. W. Thomson. 2001. Aspirin inhibits in vitro maturation and in vivo immunostimulatory function of murine myeloid dendritic cells. *J Immunol 166:7053*.

- Hernandez, A., M. Burger, B. B. Blomberg, W. A. Ross, J. J. Gaynor, I. Lindner, R. Cirocco, J. M. Mathew, M. Carreno, Y. Jin, K. P. Lee, V. Esquenazi, and J. Miller. 2007. Inhibition of NF-kappa B during human dendritic cell differentiation generates anergy and regulatory T-cell activity for one but not two human leukocyte antigen DR mismatches. *Hum Immunol 68:715*.
- 61. Li, M., X. Zhang, X. Zheng, D. Lian, Z. X. Zhang, W. Ge, J. Yang, C. Vladau, M. Suzuki, D. Chen, R. Zhong, B. Garcia, A. M. Jevnikar, and W. P. Min. 2007. Immune modulation and tolerance induction by RelB-silenced dendritic cells through RNA interference. *J Immunol* 178:5480.
- 62. Verhasselt, V., W. Vanden Berghe, N. Vanderheyde, F. Willems, G. Haegeman, and M. Goldman. 1999. N-acetyl-L-cysteine inhibits primary human T cell responses at the dendritic cell level: association with NF-kappaB inhibition. *J Immunol 162:2569*.
- 63. Yoshimura, S., J. Bondeson, B. M. Foxwell, F. M. Brennan, and M. Feldmann. 2001. Effective antigen presentation by dendritic cells is NF-kappaB dependent: coordinate regulation of MHC, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines. *Int Immunol* 13:675.
- 64. Zhao, Y., J. Li, K. Yu, Y. Liu, and X. Chen. 2007. Sinomenine inhibits maturation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells through blocking activation of NF-kappa B. *Int Immunopharmacol* 7:637.
- 65. Pape, K. A., R. Merica, A. Mondino, A. Khoruts, and M. K. Jenkins. 1998. Direct evidence that functionally impaired CD4+ T cells persist in vivo following induction of peripheral tolerance. *J Immunol 160:4719*.
- 66. Batinic-Haberle, I., L. Benov, I. Spasojevic, and I. Fridovich. 1998. The ortho effect makes manganese(III) meso-tetrakis(N-methylpyridinium-2-yl)porphyrin a powerful and potentially useful superoxide dismutase mimic. *J Biol Chem* 273:24521.
- 67. Pasternack, R. F., A. Banth, J. M. Pasternack, and C. S. Johnson. 1981. Catalysis of the disproportionation of superoxide by metalloporphyrins. III. *J Inorg Biochem* 15:261.
- 68. Patel, M., and B. J. Day. 1999. Metalloporphyrin class of therapeutic catalytic antioxidants. *Trends Pharmacol Sci 20:359*.
- 69. Zingarelli, B., B. J. Day, J. D. Crapo, A. L. Salzman, and C. Szabo. 1997. The potential role of peroxynitrite in the vascular contractile and cellular energetic failure in endotoxic shock. *Br J Pharmacol 120:259*.
- 70. Patel, M., B. J. Day, J. D. Crapo, I. Fridovich, and J. O. McNamara. 1996. Requirement for superoxide in excitotoxic cell death. *Neuron* 16:345.
- 71. Patel, M. 1998. Inhibition of neuronal apoptosis by a metalloporphyrin superoxide dismutase mimic. *J Neurochem* 71:1068.

- 72. Milano, J., and B. J. Day. 2000. A catalytic antioxidant metalloporphyrin blocks hydrogen peroxide-induced mitochondrial DNA damage. *Nucleic Acids Res* 28:968.
- 73. Melov, S., J. A. Schneider, B. J. Day, D. Hinerfeld, P. Coskun, S. S. Mirra, J. D. Crapo, and D. C. Wallace. 1998. A novel neurological phenotype in mice lacking mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase. *Nat Genet 18:159*.
- 74. Moeller, B. J., Y. Cao, C. Y. Li, and M. W. Dewhirst. 2004. Radiation activates HIF-1 to regulate vascular radiosensitivity in tumors: role of reoxygenation, free radicals, and stress granules. *Cancer Cell 5:429*.
- 75. Crow, J. P., N. Y. Calingasan, J. Chen, J. L. Hill, and M. F. Beal. 2005. Manganese porphyrin given at symptom onset markedly extends survival of ALS mice. *Ann Neurol* 58:258.
- 76. Mackensen, G. B., M. Patel, H. Sheng, C. L. Calvi, I. Batinic-Haberle, B. J. Day, L. P. Liang, I. Fridovich, J. D. Crapo, R. D. Pearlstein, and D. S. Warner. 2001. Neuroprotection from delayed postischemic administration of a metalloporphyrin catalytic antioxidant. *J Neurosci 21:4582*.
- 77. Janeway, C. A., Jr., Travers, P., Walport, M., Shlomchik, M. J. 2005. *Immuobiology: the immune system in health and disease, 6th ed.* Garland Science Publishing, New York, NY.
- 78. Bourgeois, C., B. Rocha, and C. Tanchot. 2002. A role for CD40 expression on CD8+ T cells in the generation of CD8+ T cell memory. *Science 297:2060*.
- 79. Hogquist, K. A., S. C. Jameson, W. R. Heath, J. L. Howard, M. J. Bevan, and F. R. Carbone. 1994. T cell receptor antagonist peptides induce positive selection. *Cell* 76:17.
- 80. Wolf, L. A., M. Coulombe, and R. G. Gill. 1995. Donor antigen-presenting cellindependent rejection of islet xenografts. *Transplantation 60:1164*.
- 81. Nicolls, M. R., M. Coulombe, H. Yang, A. Bolwerk, and R. G. Gill. 2000. Anti-LFA-1 therapy induces long-term islet allograft acceptance in the absence of IFN-gamma or IL-4. *J Immunol 164:3627*.
- 82. Via, C. S., A. Shustov, V. Rus, T. Lang, P. Nguyen, and F. D. Finkelman. 2001. In vivo neutralization of TNF-alpha promotes humoral autoimmunity by preventing the induction of CTL. *J Immunol 167:6821*.
- 83. Antonysamy, M. A., W. C. Fanslow, F. Fu, W. Li, S. Qian, A. B. Troutt, and A. W. Thomson. 1999. Evidence for a role of IL-17 in organ allograft rejection: IL-17 promotes the functional differentiation of dendritic cell progenitors. *J Immunol 162:577*.

- 84. Afzali, B., G. Lombardi, R. I. Lechler, and G. M. Lord. 2007. The role of T helper 17 (Th17) and regulatory T cells (Treg) in human organ transplantation and autoimmune disease. *Clin Exp Immunol 148:32*.
- 85. Lock, C., G. Hermans, R. Pedotti, A. Brendolan, E. Schadt, H. Garren, A. Langer-Gould, S. Strober, B. Cannella, J. Allard, P. Klonowski, A. Austin, N. Lad, N. Kaminski, S. J. Galli, J. R. Oksenberg, C. S. Raine, R. Heller, and L. Steinman. 2002. Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nat Med* 8:500.
- 86. Mensah-Brown, E. P., A. Shahin, M. Al-Shamisi, X. Wei, and M. L. Lukic. 2006. IL-23 leads to diabetes induction after subdiabetogenic treatment with multiple low doses of streptozotocin. *Eur J Immunol 36:216*.
- 87. Chabaud, M., P. Garnero, J. M. Dayer, P. A. Guerne, F. Fossiez, and P. Miossec. 2000. Contribution of interleukin 17 to synovium matrix destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Cytokine 12:1092.*
- Yen, D., J. Cheung, H. Scheerens, F. Poulet, T. McClanahan, B. McKenzie, M. A. Kleinschek, A. Owyang, J. Mattson, W. Blumenschein, E. Murphy, M. Sathe, D. J. Cua, R. A. Kastelein, and D. Rennick. 2006. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. *J Clin Invest 116:1310*.
- 89. Ziolkowska, M., A. Koc, G. Luszczykiewicz, K. Ksiezopolska-Pietrzak, E. Klimczak, H. Chwalinska-Sadowska, and W. Maslinski. 2000. High levels of IL-17 in rheumatoid arthritis patients: IL-15 triggers in vitro IL-17 production via cyclosporin A-sensitive mechanism. *J Immunol 164:2832*.
- 90. Shin, H. C., N. Benbernou, H. Fekkar, S. Esnault, and M. Guenounou. 1998. Regulation of IL-17, IFN-gamma and IL-10 in human CD8(+) T cells by cyclic AMP-dependent signal transduction pathway. *Cytokine 10:841*.
- 91. Smiley, K. L., M. M. McNeal, M. Basu, A. H. Choi, J. D. Clements, and R. L. Ward. 2007. Association of gamma interferon and interleukin-17 production in intestinal CD4+ T cells with protection against rotavirus shedding in mice intranasally immunized with VP6 and the adjuvant LT(R192G). *J Virol 81:3740*.
- 92. Peng, Y., G. Han, H. Shao, Y. Wang, H. J. Kaplan, and D. Sun. 2007. Characterization of IL-17+ interphotoreceptor retinoid-binding protein-specific T cells in experimental autoimmune uveitis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48:4153*.
- Srinivasan, S., D. T. Bolick, D. Lukashev, C. Lappas, M. Sitkovsky, K. R. Lynch, and C. C. Hedrick. 2007. Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Reduces CD4+ T Lymphocyte Activation in Type 1 Diabetes Through Regulation of Hypoxia-inducible Factor Short Isoform I.1 and CD69. *Diabetes*.

- 94. Guerder, S., and P. Matzinger. 1992. A fail-safe mechanism for maintaining self-tolerance. *J Exp Med 176:553*.
- 95. Bennett, S. R., F. R. Carbone, F. Karamalis, R. A. Flavell, J. F. Miller, and W. R. Heath. 1998. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. *Nature* 393:478.
- 96. Ridge, J. P., F. Di Rosa, and P. Matzinger. 1998. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. *Nature 393:474*.
- 97. Schoenberger, S. P., R. E. Toes, E. I. van der Voort, R. Offringa, and C. J. Melief. 1998. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. *Nature 393:480.*
- 98. Hernandez, J., S. Aung, K. Marquardt, and L. A. Sherman. 2002. Uncoupling of proliferative potential and gain of effector function by CD8(+) T cells responding to self-antigens. *J Exp Med 196:323*.
- 99. Bohnlein, E., J. W. Lowenthal, M. Siekevitz, D. W. Ballard, B. R. Franza, and W. C. Greene. 1988. The same inducible nuclear proteins regulates mitogen activation of both the interleukin-2 receptor-alpha gene and type 1 HIV. *Cell* 53:827.
- 100. Brini, A. T., A. Harel-Bellan, and W. L. Farrar. 1990. Cyclosporin A inhibits induction of IL-2 receptor alpha chain expression by affecting activation of NF-kB-like factor(s) in cultured human T lymphocytes. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 1:131.
- 101. Sen, R., and D. Baltimore. 1986. Inducibility of kappa immunoglobulin enhancer-binding protein Nf-kappa B by a posttranslational mechanism. *Cell* 47:921.
- 102. Boehm, U., T. Klamp, M. Groot, and J. C. Howard. 1997. Cellular responses to interferon-gamma. *Annu Rev Immunol* 15:749.
- 103. Northrop, J. K., R. M. Thomas, A. D. Wells, and H. Shen. 2006. Epigenetic remodeling of the IL-2 and IFN-gamma loci in memory CD8 T cells is influenced by CD4 T cells. *J Immunol* 177:1062.
- 104. Zhai, Y., Y. Wang, Z. Wu, and J. W. Kupiec-Weglinski. 2007. Defective alloreactive CD8 T cell function and memory response in allograft recipients in the absence of CD4 help. *J Immunol 179:4529*.
- 105. Vukkadapu, S. S., J. M. Belli, K. Ishii, A. G. Jegga, J. J. Hutton, B. J. Aronow, and J. D. Katz. 2005. Dynamic interaction between T cell-mediated beta-cell damage and beta-cell repair in the run up to autoimmune diabetes of the NOD mouse. *Physiol Genomics* 21:201.

- Bettelli, E., Y. Carrier, W. Gao, T. Korn, T. B. Strom, M. Oukka, H. L. Weiner, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 441:235.
- 107. Lubberts, E., M. I. Koenders, B. Oppers-Walgreen, L. van den Bersselaar, C. J. Coenende Roo, L. A. Joosten, and W. B. van den Berg. 2004. Treatment with a neutralizing antimurine interleukin-17 antibody after the onset of collagen-induced arthritis reduces joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion. *Arthritis Rheum 50:650*.
- 108. Bush, K. A., K. M. Farmer, J. S. Walker, and B. W. Kirkham. 2002. Reduction of joint inflammation and bone erosion in rat adjuvant arthritis by treatment with interleukin-17 receptor IgG1 Fc fusion protein. *Arthritis Rheum 46:802*.
- 109. Hofstetter, H. H., S. M. Ibrahim, D. Koczan, N. Kruse, A. Weishaupt, K. V. Toyka, and R. Gold. 2005. Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cell Immunol 237:123*.
- 110. Taylor, P. C. 2003. Antibody therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 3:323.
- 111. Miossec, P. 2003. Interleukin-17 in rheumatoid arthritis: if T cells were to contribute to inflammation and destruction through synergy. *Arthritis Rheum* 48:594.
- 112. Miljkovic, D., and V. Trajkovic. 2004. Inducible nitric oxide synthase activation by interleukin-17. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15:21*.
- 113. Granet, C., W. Maslinski, and P. Miossec. 2004. Increased AP-1 and NF-kappaB activation and recruitment with the combination of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1beta, tumor necrosis factor alpha and IL-17 in rheumatoid synoviocytes. *Arthritis Res Ther 6:R190*.
- 114. Jovanovic, D. V., J. A. Di Battista, J. Martel-Pelletier, F. C. Jolicoeur, Y. He, M. Zhang, F. Mineau, and J. P. Pelletier. 1998. IL-17 stimulates the production and expression of proinflammatory cytokines, IL-beta and TNF-alpha, by human macrophages. *J Immunol* 160:3513.
- 115. Bergmann, C. C., B. Parra, D. R. Hinton, R. Chandran, M. Morrison, and S. A. Stohlman. 2003. Perforin-mediated effector function within the central nervous system requires IFN-gamma-mediated MHC up-regulation. *J Immunol* 170:3204.
- 116. Puliaev, R., P. Nguyen, F. D. Finkelman, and C. S. Via. 2004. Differential requirement for IFN-gamma in CTL maturation in acute murine graft-versus-host disease. *J Immunol 173:910*.
- 117. Nilakantan, V., X. Zhou, G. Hilton, Y. Shi, J. E. Baker, A. K. Khanna, and G. M. Pieper. 2006. Antagonizing reactive oxygen by treatment with a manganese (III)

metalloporphyrin-based superoxide dismutase mimetic in cardiac transplants. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 131:898*.

- 118. Crutchlow, M. F., M. Yu, Y. S. Bae, S. Deng, and D. A. Stoffers. 2008. Exendin-4 does not promote Beta-cell proliferation or survival during the early post-islet transplant period in mice. *Transplant Proc* 40:1650.
- 119. Montana, E., S. Bonner-Weir, and G. C. Weir. 1993. Beta cell mass and growth after syngeneic islet cell transplantation in normal and streptozocin diabetic C57BL/6 mice. *J Clin Invest 91:780*.
- 120. Vajkoczy, P., M. D. Menger, E. Simpson, and K. Messmer. 1995. Angiogenesis and vascularization of murine pancreatic islet isografts. *Transplantation 60:123*.
- 121. Kenmochi, T., M. Miyamoto, and Y. Mullen. 1996. Protection of mouse islet isografts from nonspecific inflammatory damage by recipient treatment with nicotinamide and 15-deoxyspergualin. *Cell Transplant 5:41*.
- 122. Lohmann, T., C. List, P. Lamesch, K. Kohlhaw, M. Wenzke, C. Schwarz, O. Richter, J. Hauss, and J. Seissler. 2000. Diabetes mellitus and islet cell specific autoimmunity as adverse effects of immunsuppressive therapy by FK506/tacrolimus. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 108:347*.
- 123. Sklavos, M. M., H. M. Tse, and J. D. Piganelli. 2008. Redox modulation inhibits CD8 T cell effector function. *Free Radic Biol Med* 45:1477.
- 124. Mathews, C. E., S. H. Langley, and E. H. Leiter. 2002. New mouse model to study islet transplantation in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Transplantation* 73:1333.
- 125. Bertera, S., M. L. Crawford, A. M. Alexander, G. D. Papworth, S. C. Watkins, P. D. Robbins, and M. Trucco. 2003. Gene transfer of manganese superoxide dismutase extends islet graft function in a mouse model of autoimmune diabetes. *Diabetes 52:387*.
- 126. Bertera, S., A. M. Alexander, M. L. Crawford, G. Papworth, S. C. Watkins, P. D. Robbins, and M. Trucco. 2004. Gene combination transfer to block autoimmune damage in transplanted islets of Langerhans. *Exp Diabesity Res 5:201*.
- 127. Szkudelski, T. 2001. The mechanism of alloxan and streptozotocin action in B cells of the rat pancreas. *Physiol Res 50:537*.
- 128. Spasojevic, I., Y. Chen, T. J. Noel, Y. Yu, M. P. Cole, L. Zhang, Y. Zhao, D. K. St Clair, and I. Batinic-Haberle. 2007. Mn porphyrin-based superoxide dismutase (SOD) mimic, MnIIITE-2-PyP5+, targets mouse heart mitochondria. *Free Radic Biol Med* 42:1193.
- 129. Yang, Z., M. Chen, and J. L. Nadler. 2005. Lisofylline: a potential lead for the treatment of diabetes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 69:1.

- 130. Stegall, M. D., K. J. Lafferty, I. Kam, and R. G. Gill. 1996. Evidence of recurrent autoimmunity in human allogeneic islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 61:1272.
- 131. Eizirik, D. L., and M. I. Darville. 2001. beta-cell apoptosis and defense mechanisms: lessons from type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes 50 Suppl 1:S64*.
- 132. Cardozo, A. K., M. Kruhoffer, R. Leeman, T. Orntoft, and D. L. Eizirik. 2001. Identification of novel cytokine-induced genes in pancreatic beta-cells by high-density oligonucleotide arrays. *Diabetes 50:909*.
- 133. Heimberg, H., Y. Heremans, C. Jobin, R. Leemans, A. K. Cardozo, M. Darville, and D. L. Eizirik. 2001. Inhibition of cytokine-induced NF-kappaB activation by adenovirus-mediated expression of a NF-kappaB super-repressor prevents beta-cell apoptosis. *Diabetes 50:2219*.
- 134. Giannoukakis, N., W. A. Rudert, M. Trucco, and P. D. Robbins. 2000. Protection of human islets from the effects of interleukin-1beta by adenoviral gene transfer of an Ikappa B repressor. *J Biol Chem* 275:36509.
- 135. Kim, E. K., K. B. Kwon, B. S. Koo, M. J. Han, M. Y. Song, E. K. Song, M. K. Han, J. W. Park, D. G. Ryu, and B. H. Park. 2007. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma protects pancreatic beta-cells from cytokine-induced cytotoxicity via NF kappaB pathway. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 39:1260.
- 136. Welsh, N., B. Margulis, L. A. Borg, H. J. Wiklund, J. Saldeen, M. Flodstrom, M. A. Mello, A. Andersson, D. G. Pipeleers, C. Hellerstrom, and et al. 1995. Differences in the expression of heat-shock proteins and antioxidant enzymes between human and rodent pancreatic islets: implications for the pathogenesis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Mol Med 1:806*.
- 137. Fadok, V. A. 2003. The sirens' call. Nat Cell Biol 5:697.
- 138. Fadok, V. A., and P. M. Henson. 2003. Apoptosis: giving phosphatidylserine recognition an assist--with a twist. *Curr Biol 13:R655*.
- 139. Koh, Y. T., S. A. Higgins, J. S. Weber, and W. M. Kast. 2006. Immunological consequences of using three different clinical/laboratory techniques of emulsifying peptide-based vaccines in incomplete Freund's adjuvant. *J Transl Med 4:42*.
- 140. Lang, K. S., M. Recher, A. A. Navarini, N. L. Harris, M. Lohning, T. Junt, H. C. Probst, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 2005. Inverse correlation between IL-7 receptor expression and CD8 T cell exhaustion during persistent antigen stimulation. *Eur J Immunol* 35:738.
- 141. Kearney, E. R., K. A. Pape, D. Y. Loh, and M. K. Jenkins. 1994. Visualization of peptide-specific T cell immunity and peripheral tolerance induction in vivo. *Immunity* 1:327.
- 142. Luo, X., K. L. Pothoven, D. McCarthy, M. DeGutes, A. Martin, D. R. Getts, G. Xia, J. He, X. Zhang, D. B. Kaufman, and S. D. Miller. 2008. ECDI-fixed allogeneic splenocytes induce donor-specific tolerance for long-term survival of islet transplants via two distinct mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:14527.
- 143. Sun, E., Y. Gao, J. Chen, A. I. Roberts, X. Wang, Z. Chen, and Y. Shi. 2004. Allograft tolerance induced by donor apoptotic lymphocytes requires phagocytosis in the recipient. *Cell Death Differ 11:1258.*
- 144. Jiang, H., Z. Lu, S. Pan, B. Sun, F. Meng, H. Tan, Q. Meng, and X. Sun. 2006. Opposite effects of donor apoptotic versus necrotic splenocytes on splenic allograft tolerance. *J* Surg Res 136:247.
- 145. Marti, H. P., J. Henschkowski, G. Laux, B. Vogt, C. Seiler, G. Opelz, and F. J. Frey. 2006. Effect of donor-specific transfusions on the outcome of renal allografts in the cyclosporine era. *Transpl Int 19:19*.
- 146. Heeger, P. S., T. Forsthuber, C. Shive, E. Biekert, C. Genain, H. H. Hofstetter, A. Karulin, and P. V. Lehmann. 2000. Revisiting tolerance induced by autoantigen in incomplete Freund's adjuvant. *J Immunol 164:5771*.
- 147. Tian, J., P. V. Lehmann, and D. L. Kaufman. 1997. Determinant spreading of T helper cell 2 (Th2) responses to pancreatic islet autoantigens. *J Exp Med 186:2039*.
- 148. Yip, H. C., A. Y. Karulin, M. Tary-Lehmann, M. D. Hesse, H. Radeke, P. S. Heeger, R. P. Trezza, F. P. Heinzel, T. Forsthuber, and P. V. Lehmann. 1999. Adjuvant-guided type-1 and type-2 immunity: infectious/noninfectious dichotomy defines the class of response. *J Immunol 162:3942*.
- 149. den Boer, A. T., L. Diehl, G. J. van Mierlo, E. I. van der Voort, M. F. Fransen, P. Krimpenfort, C. J. Melief, R. Offringa, and R. E. Toes. 2001. Longevity of antigen presentation and activation status of APC are decisive factors in the balance between CTL immunity versus tolerance. *J Immunol 167:2522*.
- 150. Markees, T. G., N. E. Phillips, E. J. Gordon, R. J. Noelle, L. D. Shultz, J. P. Mordes, D. L. Greiner, and A. A. Rossini. 1998. Long-term survival of skin allografts induced by donor splenocytes and anti-CD154 antibody in thymectomized mice requires CD4(+) T cells, interferon-gamma, and CTLA4. *J Clin Invest 101:2446*.
- 151. Konieczny, B. T., Z. Dai, E. T. Elwood, S. Saleem, P. S. Linsley, F. K. Baddoura, C. P. Larsen, T. C. Pearson, and F. G. Lakkis. 1998. IFN-gamma is critical for long-term

allograft survival induced by blocking the CD28 and CD40 ligand T cell costimulation pathways. *J Immunol 160:2059*.